

Progress in Neurobiology 79 (2006) 223-246



www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio

The mysterious trace amines: Protean neuromodulators of synaptic transmission in mammalian brain $\stackrel{k}{\approx}$

Scott A. Burchett^{a,b,*}, T. Philip Hicks^{a,b,**}

^a University of California at San Francisco, Department of Psychiatry, Langley-Porter Psychiatric Institute,

Nina Ireland Laboratory of Developmental Neurobiology, 401 Parnassus Avenue, San Francisco, CA 94143, United States

^b Office of the President, Nova Scotia Agricultural College, Cumming Hall, Post Office Box 550, Truro, Nova Scotia, Canada B2N 5E3

Received 6 March 2006; received in revised form 9 July 2006; accepted 25 July 2006

Abstract

The trace amines are a structurally related group of amines and their isomers synthesized in mammalian brain and peripheral nervous tissues. They are closely associated metabolically with the dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin neurotransmitter systems in mammalian brain. Like dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin the trace amines have been implicated in a vast array of human disorders of affect and cognition. The trace amines are unique as they are present in trace concentrations, exhibit high rates of metabolism and are distributed heterogeneously in mammalian brain. While some are synthesized in their parent amine neurotransmitter systems, there is also evidence to suggest other trace amines may comprise their own independent neurotransmitter systems. A substantial body of evidence suggests that the trace amines may play very significant roles in the coordination of biogenic amine-based synaptic physiology. At high concentrations, they have well-characterized presynaptic "amphetamine-like" effects on catecholamine and indolamine release, reuptake and biosynthesis; at lower concentrations, they possess postsynaptic modulatory effects that potentiate the activity of other neurotransmitters, particularly dopamine and serotonin. The trace amines also possess electrophysiological effects that are in opposition to these neurotransmitters, indicating to some researchers the existence of receptors specific for the trace amines. While binding sites or receptors for a few of the trace amines have been advanced, the absence of cloned receptor protein has impeded significant development of their detailed mechanistic roles in the coordination of catecholamine and indolamine synaptic physiology. The recent discovery and characterization of a family of mammalian G protein-coupled receptors responsive to trace amines such as βphenylethylamine, tyramine, and octopamine, including socially ingested psychotropic drugs such as amphetamine, 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine, N.N-dimethyltryptamine, and lysergic acid diethylamide, have revitalized the field of scientific studies investigating trace amine synaptic physiology, and its association with major human disorders of affect and cognition. © 2006 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: β-Phenylethylamine; Tryptamine; Octopamine; Receptor; Trace amine; Synaptic transmitter; Neuromodulator; Afeect; Cognition; Schizophrenia; Depression

Contents

1.	The mysterious trace amines	224
2.	Trace amines and human disorders of affect and cognition	226
	2.1. Depression.	227
	2.2. Schizophrenia	227
3.	Synthesis and metabolism of the trace amines.	228

Abbreviations: L-AADC, aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase; COMT, catechol-*O*-methyltransferase; DBH, dopamine β-hydroxylase; DMT, *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine; INMT, indolethylamine-*N*-methyltransferase; MAO-A/B, monoamine oxidase A/B; NMT, *N*-methyltransferase; PNMT, phenylethanolamine *N*-methyltransferase; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase

^{*} Protean: readily assuming different shapes or forms.

^{*} Corresponding author.

^{**} Corresponding author at: Nova Scotia Agricultural College, Cumming Hall, Post Box 550, Truro, Nova Scotia, Canada B2N 5E3. Tel.: +1 902 893 6720; fax: +1 902 897 9399.

E-mail addresses: burchettscott@yahoo.com (S.A. Burchett), phicks@nsac.ca (T.P. Hicks).

4.	Phenotypic localization of trace amines in mammalian brain.	228
	4.1. Is octopamine synthesized exclusively within noradrenaline neurons?	228
	4.2. Is tyramine synthesized exclusively within dopamine neurons?	229
	4.3. Is tryptamine synthesized exclusively within serotonin or dopamine neurons?	229
	4.4. Is β-phenylethylamine synthesized exclusively within dopamine neurons?	229
5.	Trace amines as neurotransmitters or neuromodulators	230
	5.1. Ionotropic and metabotropic chemical communication	231
6.	A classic model of trace amine function	231
7.	Multi-focal or <i>protean</i> neuromodulatory activities of the trace amines	232
	7.1. Lipophilicity of the trace amines	232
	7.2. Vesicular or non-vesicular release of the trace amines.	232
	7.3. Trace amines as indirect releasing agents	233
	7.3.1. Evidence for tyramine and octopamine	233
	7.3.2. Evidence for β-phenylethylamine	233
8.	Trace amine-binding sites in mammalian brain	234
	8.1. Evidence for tyramine	234
	8.2. Evidence for octopamine	235
	8.3. Evidence for tryptamine and dimethyltryptamine	236
	8.4. Evidence for β-phenylethylamine	236
9.	Trace amines as <i>slow</i> metabotropic neuromodulatory agents	236
	9.1. A hallmark synergy: vasopressin and noradrenaline	237
	9.2. Models of β-phenylethylamine and tryptamine function	237
	9.2.1. β-Phenylethylamine	237
	9.2.2. Tryptamine	238
10.	Could the trace amines function as <i>fast</i> ionotropic synaptic neurotransmitters?	238
	10.1. Evidence for β-phenylethylamine and tyramine	238
	10.2. Evidence for octopamine.	239
	10.3. Evidence for tryptamine	239
11.	Coda	240
	Acknowledgements	240
	References	240

1. The mysterious trace amines

The label "trace amine" (or "micro-amines", as sometimes they have been described) refers to the structurally related group of amines and their isomers, *p*-octopamine, *m*octopamine (*p*- and *m*-OA) *p*- and *m*-tyramine (*p*- and *m*-TYR), tryptamine (TRP), β -phenylethylamine (β -PEA) and perhaps including *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine (DMT)¹ (Fig. 1).

All trace amines are closely associated metabolically with the dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin neurotransmitter systems (Philips et al., 1974; Axelrod and Saavedra, 1977). Like OA, these compounds are present at trace concentrations (0.1–100 ng/g tissue) and are distributed *heterogeneously* in mammalian brain tissue (Boulton, 1976a; Boulton and Juorio,

1982). All trace amines exhibit very high rates of biosynthesis and catabolism (Boulton, 1984). In the case of β -PEA and TRP, this high rate of turnover is strongly believed to be related to their lack of vesicular storage mechanisms and their greater affinity for monoamine oxidase B (MAO-B) (Dyck, 1984). The term "trace amine" is certainly a misnomer for it implies an accidental or incidental role for these molecules in the processes of the synaptic physiology or metabolism of dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin (Robertson, 1981).

Since these amines are believed by some to be localized exclusively in dopamine, noradrenaline, or serotonin systems, their greater rates of turnover there suggest that the trace amines may have very significant roles in the *integrative* activity relating to the synaptic physiology of these amines. In fact, dopamine is found at trace levels in visual cortex. Iontophoresis of dopamine there produces similar long-term inhibitory post-synaptic potentials (IPSPs) as are elicited following the iontophoresis of dopamine on neurons in the striatum, where dopamine is present at roughly four times greater levels (Reader et al., 1988). Thus, although it in no way suggests, the lack of significant concentrations of a neurochemical – such as TRP and DMT – at some site in the nervous system should never imply an absence of more important functions (Jones, 1983). Indeed as will be detailed below, a substantial body of observations suggests that TYR, TRP, OA, and particularly β -PEA may play very significant

¹ DMT is ubiquitously present within the plant and animal kingdoms (Ott, 1993). DMT is perhaps most well known for its presence in the plant *Psychotria viridis*, which is used together with the vine *Banisteriopsis caapi*, to prepare the hallucinogenic concoction, ayahuasca (or yagè), used by indigenous tribes of the Amazon in their shamanic rituals (Metzner, 1999). DMT is also a normal constituent of human blood and urine (Franzen and Gross, 1965; Karkkainen et al., 2005). More controversial is the presence of DMT in brain. Some researchers posit that the synthesis of DMT in brain is not physiologically significant (Thompson et al., 1999; however, consider the arguments of Jones, 1983; Reader et al., 1988). Other researchers propose that DMT levels increase in the mammalian brain during stress, whereupon DMT may act as an endogenous anxiolytic (for discussion, see Jacob and Presti, 2005).



Fig. 1. Structure of the mammalian biogenic amines. The trace amines β -phenylethylamine, tyramine and tryptamine are synthesized from the decarboxylation by aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase of their precursor amino acids. Octopamine is synthesized from the hydroxylation of tyramine by dopamine- β -decarboxylase. *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine is synthesized from a two-step methylation reaction each catalyzed by indolethylamine-*N*-methyltransferase, yielding *N*-methyltryptamine and subsequently *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine (Mandell and Morgan, 1971). The trace amines are also *N*-methylated to the corresponding active secondary amines by phenylethanolamine *N*-methyltransferase or *N*-methyltransferase. All trace amines are catabolized to their corresponding inactive metabolites by monoamine oxidase-A/B (see text for details).

roles in the coordination of biogenic amine-based synaptic physiology.

Such coordination may involve particular signaling pathways activated by receptors specific for the trace amines. The recent discovery, partial neuroanatomical mapping, and pharmacological characterization of two G protein-coupled human trace amine associated receptors, TAAR1 and TAAR4, activated by TRP, *p*-TYR and β -PEA, as well as amphetamine, 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, "ecstacy"), *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) and lysergic acid diethyla-mide (LSD) (Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001; Cikos et al., 2001), substantiates this idea enormously.

Trace amines are characterized by a variety of features that they hold in common. As stated, these substances are distributed *heterogeneously* in mammalian brain. This distribution closely parallels the origins and terminal projection domains of the dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin neurotransmitter systems (Philips, 1984). They are present at trace levels in these same areas (Philips et al., 1974), compared with their presence at microgram levels in the ganglia and nerves of various invertebrate species (Klemm and Axelsson, 1973), as well as compared with dopamine and noradrenaline levels in the mammalian brain (Versteeg et al., 1976). Like OA, they all exhibit greater turnover rates than dopamine or noradrenaline (Durden and Phillips, 1980; Durden et al., 1988; Philips and Boulton, 1979). This greater turnover rate may in fact be due to the increased sensitivity of these amines to oxidative deamination by MAO-A/B, owing to their lack of comparable storage mechanisms (Wu and Boulton, 1975; Philips and Boulton, 1979; Durden and Phillips, 1980).

As suggested by other investigators, based on their synaptosomal localization (Boulton and Baker, 1975; Baldessarini and Vogt, 1972), sensitivity to reserpine, and Ca²⁺dependent release following depolarizing stimuli such as electrical activation or high K⁺ stimulation (Boulton and Baker, 1975; Boulton et al., 1977, 1975; Baldessarini, 1971b; Baldessarini and Vogt, 1972; Dyck, 1989), at least four possible communication roles exist for the trace amines (for review, see Berry, 2004). They may serve as either co-transmitters in dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin neurotransmitter systems (Saavedra and Axelrod, 1976). The trace amines may function as distinct neurotransmitters in their own unique trace aminergic systems (Boulton, 1976b; Sabelli et al., 1978; Hicks, 1977). Due to their close structural similarities to dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin, the trace amines may serve as substitute or false neurotransmitters in both peripheral noradrenaline-containing (Kopin, 1968) and central dopamine or noradrenaline systems (Fischer and Baldessarini, 1971; Baldessarini and Fisher, 1978) during disease states, such as hepatic encephalopathy (Fogel et al., 1990), or following L-DOPA therapy for Parkinsonism (Baldessarini and Vogt, 1972). Finally, they may potentially serve in the mammalian brain as neuromodulators of the catecholamines insofar as is concerned their biosynthesis, carrier-mediated vesicular uptake (Baldessarini and Fisher, 1978; Boulton, 1976b; Bailey et al., 1987; Dyck, 1983; Matthaei et al., 1976), Ca²⁺-dependent release (Bailey et al., 1987), pre- or post-synaptic receptor binding (Cheng et al., 1990; Locock et al., 1984; Borowsky et al., 2001), post-synaptic responses (Boulton, 1976a,b; Jones, 1984; Paterson, 1993; Boulton, 1979; Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001), and/or carrier-mediated cytoplasmic uptake (Raiteri et al., 1977; Sangiah et al., 1979).

Even with the recent discovery of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) responsive to the trace amines and the consequent resurgent interest of the role of the trace amines in mammalian synaptic physiology, a shortage of contemporary molecular studies will severely limit the depth in which the activities of any trace amine, particularly OA, can be discussed; they instead may be discussed as a class, the class of trace amines. A number of distinguishing characteristics support this choice. Firstly, the trace amines can be grouped together based on their close structural similarities to each other and to dopamine and noradrenaline. Secondly, they also can be grouped based on their common metabolic associations with catecholamine and indoleamine systems in the mammalian brain. Thirdly, and perhaps most significantly of all, they can be bound together based on their unique abilities to *potentiate* the synaptic efficacy of dopamine, nor adrenaline and serotonin synaptic transmission.

The following review will be concerned with the distributions of the trace amines with dopamine or noradrenaline neurotransmitter systems; that is, are the trace amines indigenous molecules of the dopamine or noradrenaline systems? If this is indeed the case, then they may serve as neuromodulators or co-transmitters with dopamine or noradrenaline in these systems. Whereas if they exist in the brain *independently* of the dopamine or noradrenalin systems, then the trace aminers may function as neurotransmitters in their own unique trace aminergic systems. In fact in certain regions of the mammalian brain they may fulfill both roles.

If they perform either of these roles, then what is the nature of the release of the trace amines? Are the trace amines released vesicularly or are they released non-specifically by diffusion from their sites of biosynthesis? We will also attempt to classify them and discuss their *communication* roles in the brain. Are the trace amines neurotransmitters, neuromodulators or neurohumoral agents in the mammalian brain? Are they *fast* synaptic ionotropic neurotransmitters or *slow*-acting metabotropic neuromodulatory agents? On the other hand, might they play both roles?

2. Trace amines and human disorders of affect and cognition

A single man stands like a bird-watcher, And scuffles the pepper and salt snow From a discarded, gray Westinghouse Electric cable drum. He cannot discover America by counting The chains of condemned freight-trains From thirty states. They jolt and jar and junk in the siding below him. He has trouble with his balance. His eyes drop, And he drifts with the wild ice Ticking in the seaward down the Hudson, Like the blank sides of a jig-saw puzzle—Lowell (1999)

It perhaps should not be unexpected that the trace amines have been implicated in most neuropsychiatric disorders that are associated with catecholamine and indoleamine system dysfunctions, given the fact that the trace amines have a storied history of modulating signaling events that occur at presynaptic and post-synaptic sites for these systems. Alterations in trace amine function are thought to be involved in the etiology of a variety of neuropathological conditions, including hallucinations, schizophrenia, major depression, anxiety states, anorexia, obsessive-compulsive disorders, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), bipolar disorder and hepatic encephalopathy (for excellent reviews, see Boulton, 1980; Dourish and Boulton, 1981; Wolf and Mosnaim, 1983; Davis and Boulton, 1994; Fogel et al., 1990; Ciprian-Ollivier and Cetkovich-Bakmas, 1997; Janssen et al., 1999; Kim and Von Zastrow, 2001; Kusaga et al., 2002; Branchek and Blackburn, 2003; Lindemann and Hoener, 2005).

2.1. Depression

The original hypothesis for depressive illness stated that depression is caused by a deficiency in biogenic amine transmitters (Schildkraut, 1967; Lapin and Ovxenkrug, 1969). Antidepressant drugs such as the tricyclics, tetracyclics, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and MAO inhibitors all increase brain biogenic amine functional availability and improve neurotransmission at catecholamine- and/or indoleamine-mediated synapses. Reserpine, a drug that interferes with biogenic amine packaging in synaptic vesicles and depletes dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin from the terminals, causes depressive states in some patients who take the substance as an anti-hypotensive agent (Carlsson et al., 1963).

It has been proposed that alterations in trace amine activity could result in a reduced effectiveness of catecholamine- and serotonin-mediated transmission (Dewhurst, 1968; Sabelli and Mosnaim, 1974). In line with this reasoning, Sandler et al. (1979) found that urinary excretion of trace amines are significantly diminished in depressed patients (cf., DeLisi et al., 1984). Similarly the major metabolite of β -PEA, phenylacetic acid, considered a useful indicator for clinical states, is reduced in patients with some forms of depression (Davis and Boulton, 1994). Importantly, the long-term administration of β -PEA, or its precursor, L-phenylalanine, significantly improves the affective state of depressed individuals (Sabelli et al., 1996).

2.2. Schizophrenia

β-PEA is also implicated in the neuropathology of schizophrenia (for reviews, see Sandler and Reynolds, 1976; O'Reilly and Davis, 1994), in part due to the evidence that β-PEA is an agonist at dopamine receptors, but more to the point, based on the observations that administration of high doses of β-PEA not only increases locomotion and induces stereotypic behaviors in rats and monkeys (Tinklenberg et al., 1978; Dourish, 1985; Paterson et al., 1990) in a manner analogous to amphetamine but also in humans at high doses β-PEA will induce schizophrenia-like episodes by stimulating ascending mesolimbic and mesocortical pathways (Connell, 1958; Snyder et al., 1967; Angrist et al., 1974; Laruelle et al., 2003; for review, see O'Reilly and Davis, 1994). This has lead to the proposal that β-PEA is the brain's "endogenous" amphetamine (Janssen et al., 1999). The most direct evidence for the involvement of β -PEA in schizophrenia are the observations that urinary (Yoshimoto et al., 1987; Myojin et al., 1989) as well as plasma β -PEA levels are increased in schizophrenics (Potkin et al., 1979; Shirkande et al., 1995); however other studies did not demonstrate this relationship (cf., Beckmann et al., 1983; Szymanski et al., 1987).

Clearly the precise mechanisms of B-PEA psychogenic activity are still a mystery, but if there is a link between β -PEA and schizophrenia, it would be likely that the site of action is the dopamine D₂ receptor because many efficacious antipsychotic drugs are dopamine D₂ receptor antagonists (for review, see Laruelle et al., 2005). A simple explanation for β -PEA involvement in schizophrenia would be that in response to elevated aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase (L-AADC) activity - the rate limiting enzyme necessary for the biosynthesis of trace amines including B-PEA - trace amine concentrations would increase and this would be expected to alter activity at dopamine D₂ receptors and perhaps TAAR1 expressed within the limbic forebrain (see Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001). Our hypothesis is supported by findings that L-AADC activity is increased in the brains of patients having psychoses (Reith et al., 1994), and chronic administration of antipsychotic or psychogenic drugs, such as LSD and PCP, also up-regulate L-AADC mRNA (Buckland et al., 1992, 1997) and protein levels in rat brain (Zhu et al., 1992, 1993).²

With the discovery of GPCRs responsive to β -PEA and other trace amines a new avenue of investigation has materialized focusing on these trace amine GPCRs and human psychopathologies. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) screening for TAARs coupled with chromosomal mapping using probes derived from the amplified TAAR PCR products identified a number of additional human trace amine associated receptors (TAAR9, TAAR6 and TAAR8) (Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001). Interestingly, the genes for these GPCRs, including TAAR1 and TAAR4, are tightly clustered on human chromosome 6q23.2 (Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001; for review, see Lindemann and Hoener, 2005). This region is nested within a wider region (6q13-q26) demonstrating genome-wide suggestive linkage in a number of pedigrees to bipolar affective disorder and schizophrenia (Cao et al., 1997; Rice et al., 1997; Cichon et al., 2001; Ewald et al., 2002; Dick et al., 2003; Middleton et al., 2004; Venken et al., 2006).

The association of the trace amine associated receptor genes of human chromosomal region 6q23.2 with these disorders is heightened by the presence of multiple single nucleotide polymorphisms in TAAR4 and TAAR6, which are associated with schizophrenic or bipolar pedigrees (Duan et al., 2004; Bly, 2005; Jamra et al., 2005). However, for TAAR6, screening of schizophrenic pedigrees from other ethnicities has not

² The human ventral striatum (nucleus accumbens), which is implicated in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia, contains neurons, D-cells that express L-AADC. Interestingly, D-cells are significantly reduced in the brains of autopsied schizophrenics (Ikemoto et al., 2003; for reviews, see Ikemoto, 2002; Ikemoto, 2004; see also Sections 4.3 and 4.4).

demonstrated a linkage between these polymorphisms and schizophrenia (Duan et al., 2005; Ikeda et al., 2005; Amann et al., 2006; Venken et al., 2006). Similarly, a mutant variant of TAAR9 did not segregate with ADHD or bipolar disorder (Vanti et al., 2003). The relationship between trace amine receptor genes and these human cognitive disorders remains unclear.

3. Synthesis and metabolism of the trace amines

Forever and ever, persistent matter must change its form. Grasping the clue of causality, mechanical, physical, chemical and organic phenomenon greedily push to the fore, snatching matter from one another, for each would reveal its own inherent idea (Schopenhauer, 1966).

The trace amines, β -PEA, p-TYR, OA and TRP, are all synthesized directly by the enzymatic decarboxylation by L-AADC of the respective precursor amino acids, or as in the case of OA by additional conversion from TYR by dopamine- β -hydroxylase (Boulton and Wu, 1973; Boulton, 1976a; Durden and Phillips, 1980; Bowsher and Henry, 1983; for review, see Lindemann and Hoener, 2005). DMT is synthesized by two successive methylation reactions. The first forms *N*-methyl-tryptamine from tryptamine while the second produces *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) from the methylation of *N*-methyltryptamine (Mandell and Morgan, 1971; for discussion, see Jacob and Presti, 2005).

The trace amines are catabolized to biologically inactive molecules predominately by MAO, with different selectivities for MAO-A and MAO-B (Philips and Boulton, 1979). In addition to these main metabolic pathways, the trace amines can be converted by non-specific *N*-methyltransferase (NMT) and phenylethanolamine *N*-methyltransferase (PNMT) to the corresponding secondary amines, synephrine, *N*-methylphenylethylamine and *N*-methyltyramine (Saavedra et al., 1973, 1974; again for review, see Lindemann and Hoener, 2005).

4. Phenotypic localization of trace amines in mammalian brain

Considering the fact that the classical neurotransmitters account for only a *small* proportion of the total nerve terminals in the mammalian brain, the presence of additional neurotransmitter systems, if only minor, such as for TRP, TYR, or OA, would appear to be *not* such an unlikely possibility (Baldessarini and Karobath, 1973). While initial immunohistochemical localization of TYR in the rat brain has produced negative results (Osborne, 1985), more recently, Kitahama et al. (2005) demonstrated *strong* TYR immunoreactivity in the rat median eminence and mediobasal hypothalamus. These authors also noted *weak* TYR immunoreactivity within nigrostriatal dopamine neurons and terminals and noradrenergic neurons of the locus coeruleus, observations that corroborate the lesioning studies of Juorio and Jones (1981) described in detail below.

While the *concept* of the development of antibodies to β -PEA has been criticized based on apparently inevitable cross-reactivites with the catecholamines, particularly dopamine

(Paterson et al., 1990), TRP and OA immunoreactivity in the rat brain have been successfully demonstrated using polyclonal antisera to TRP (Geffard et al., 1987) and OA (Burchett, 1994). Specifically, TRP and OA immunoreactivity are present in the dorsal and medial raphe, as well as in the locus coeruleus, substantia nigra (SN)-ventral tegmental area (VTA), and in additional mesencephalic regions (Dabadie et al., 1990; Burchett, 1994).

Additionally, OA immunoreactivity is present in more rostral limbic forebrain regions, such as the amygdala, hippocampus, globus pallidus, and caudate-putamen and nucleus accumbens (Burchett, 1994). Using a double-labeling technique Dabadie et al. (1990) and later Dabadie and Geffard (1993) examined the possible co-localization of TRP with dopamine and TRP with serotonin, respectively, in the SN and the raphe nuclei and in the regions between the raphe nuclei and the SN. Dabadie and associates (Dabadie et al., 1990; Dabadie and Geffard, 1993) revealed that the TRP immunoreactivity within the raphe nuclei and in the regions between the raphe nuclei and the SN is not present in the same cells with dopamine; in the dorsal raphe TRP is not only present in cells with serotonin but is also present solely in TRP-containingserotonin-negative neurons. Thus, it appears that a heterogeneous population of TRP and OA neurons exists in the rat brain which does not express dopamine, but which overlaps anatomically with the classical catecholamine and indoleamine systems, and which is also present more widely in mesencephalic and in additional forebrain regions.

4.1. Is octopamine synthesized exclusively within noradrenaline neurons?

In addition to the immunocytochemical techniques, experiments performed to date attempting to clarify the relationship between the catecholamine-containing neurons and the trace amines have relied primarily on a combination of electrolytic and chemical lesioning of the dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin cell bodies or their pathways, followed by quantitative analytical measures of the concentrations of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin and the relative trace amine(s) at various times following the lesion.

In all cases, these experiments have led to a body of indirect, if sometimes ambiguous, evidence suggestive of either unique trace amine systems or the association of the respective trace amines with other catecholamine transmitter systems. Specifically, studies which turned out to be inconclusive compared the rate and progress of decrease of noradrenaline and OA following chemical lesioning with the neurotoxin 6-OHDA, a drug which destroys catecholamine-containing nerve terminals and results in a degeneration of their terminal projections, effecting a depletion of dopamine and noradrenaline (Thoenen and Tranzer, 1968). The data only were able to suggest that OA is either present entirely in noradrenaline-containing cells, or that an independent population of OA-containing cells exists which also is sensitive to 6-OHDA (Baldessarini, 1971a). Similar conclusions were reached by Juorio (1988a), following the subcutaneous administration of the noradrenaline neurotoxin DSP-4, which depleted hypothalamic noradrenaline and OA. This resulted in the suggestions that *p*-OA is either present within noradrenaline terminals within the hypothalamus, or that OA cells exist there that are sensitive to DSP-4 (Juorio, 1988a).

Studies comparing the relative disappearance of OA and noradrenaline following electrolytic lesions of the locus coeruleus by Hicks et al. (1987) showed that in the hippocampus, midbrain, hypothalamus and cerebellum, there were significant differences in the patterns of noradrenaline and OA disappearance over time following the lesion. However, in the anterior and posterior cortex and striatum, the post-lesion patterns of disappearance were similar. This led these authors to suggest that in the former regions, OA cells may exist independently of the noradrenaline terminals from the locus coeruleus, while in the latter regions OA is co-localized in noradrenaline terminals from the locus coeruleus (Hicks et al., 1987).

4.2. Is tyramine synthesized exclusively within dopamine neurons?

In addition to the body of evidence discussed above relating to OA and noradrenaline, other studies by Juorio and Jones (1981) focused on the possibility of a relationship between m-TYR and *p*-TYR with dopamine neurons and their projections to the striatum. Unilateral electrolytic lesions of the SN pars compacta (SNc) combined with analytical measurements of concentrations of dopamine, p- and m-TYR from the striatum at survival times of 2, 11, and 25 days, led these authors to conclude that both *m*- and *p*-TYR are located within dopaminecontaining cells of the SNc, and/or in fibers passing through the SNc. In contrast, after only 1 day, lesions placed dorsally to the SNc resulted in a profound increase in levels of *m*-TYR, a decrease in levels of *p*-TYR, and no change in dopamine levels after 1 day. This temporal dissociation of the metabolism of m-TYR from dopamine suggested to Juorio and Jones (1981) that these differences indicated evidence for the existence of a population of *m*-TYR-containing cell bodies lying dorsal to the SNc and which also project to the striatum. The additional pand *m*-TYR in the striatum might arise from dopaminecontaining neurons in the SNc, or in its immediate vicinity.

4.3. Is tryptamine synthesized exclusively within serotonin or dopamine neurons?

Lesioning studies provided the first preliminary evidence for the possible *independent* existence of TRP from serotonin neurons. Specifically, electrolytic lesions of the dorsal and median raphe reduced forebrain serotonin by 70%, but TRP levels were reduced by only 30% (Knott et al., 1974; Marsden and Curzon, 1974). Subsequently Juorio and colleagues (Juorio and Greenshaw, 1985, 1986; Juorio et al., 1987) investigated the extent of the localization of TRP with dopamine or serotonin neurons and their projections to the striatum. Those experiments led to the conclusion that concentrations of TRP in the hypothalamus, striatum and hippocampus were not dependent upon the integrity of the dorsal or medial raphe, but were dependent upon the integrity of the SNc. Specifically, these researchers found that whereas electrolytic lesions of the dorsal and medial raphe followed by analytical measurements of concentrations of TRP and serotonin in the striatum, hypothalamus and hippocampus demonstrated significantly reduced levels of serotonin, there was a failure of the lesion to change concentrations of TRP even up to 1–2 weeks following lesioning (Juorio and Greenshaw, 1985).

By contrast, measurements of TRP and dopamine in the striatum 7 days following a unilateral electrolytic lesion of the SN demonstrated significant reductions of TRP and dopamine. Unilateral injections of 6-OHDA or 5, 7-DHT into the SN combined with measurements of TRP in the striatum, nucleus accumbens, and olfactory tubercles demonstrated that levels of dopamine and TRP were unaffected following 5, 7-DHT lesioning, but they were reduced dramatically following 6-OHDA lesions of the SN and of the striato-nigral projection. Together these results suggest that the TRP present within the striatum does not arise from the dorsal or medial raphe, and that either TRP is found in dopamine-containing neurons and their terminals in the striatum, or that a 6-OHDA-sensitive, TRP-containing group of neurons exists, or transverses, the domain of the striato-nigral projection.

Building up the picture from these studies, Dabadie et al. (1990) demonstrated a unique population of TRP neurons in the SN and its vicinity, but these TRP neurons did not stain for dopamine. It may be that these TRP cells are the D-cells observed by Jaeger et al. (1984). D-cells are found in the SN and contain L-AADC but lack tyrosine hydroxylase and tryptophan hydro-xylase (Jaeger et al., 1984; Ikemoto, 2002). Thus, D-cells are able to synthesize β -PEA from phenylalanine (Lovenberg et al., 1962), TRP from L-tryptophan (Warsh et al., 1979), TYR from L-tyrosine, but not dopamine from L-DOPA. In fact, D-cells may be the 6-OHDA-sensitive and 5,7-DHT-insensitive neurons from which TRP is derived in the striatum in the study of Juorio et al. (1987). Thus, these TRP neurons in the SN may comprise a component of the striato-nigral projection.

4.4. Is β -phenylethylamine synthesized exclusively within dopamine neurons?

Studies with *p*-TYR, *m*-TYR, or β -PEA suggest that these amines may either co-exist with dopamine in the SN and thus within the nigrostriatal projection, or with axons that containing these trace amines may pass through the SN and striatum (Juorio, 1988a; Nguyen et al., 1989). In a study employing a quite similar experimental design to that of Juorio et al. (1987) and Greenshaw et al. (1986) lesioned the SN either electrically or chemically with 6-OHDA and found that concentrations of both dopamine and β -PEA were reduced substantially in the striatum. Electrical or chemical lesioning of the dorsal and medial raphe had no effect on levels of β -PEA and dopamine in the striatum. This implies that β-PEA is present in dopaminecontaining neurons and in the nigro-striatal projection, but not in serotonin-containing neurons of the raphe or in their projections to the striatum. The experiments by Greenshaw et al. (1986) did not discriminate between the sites of β -PEA biosynthesis, that is, whether β -PEA is synthesized in dopamine-containing neurons in the SN, or in D-cells, or in both dopamine and D-cells.

Juorio et al. (1991) designed experiments to ascertain more directly whether β-PEA is present in dopamine-containing neurons or in D-cells of the SN and their projection to the striatum. These researchers demonstrated that the electrical stimulation of the SN produced an increase in dopamine turnover and a decrease in the biosynthesis of β -PEA and p-TYR in the striatum. This effect was dependent upon the activity of TH since the inhibition of TH by α -methyl-ptyrosine reversed these changes. These results demonstrate three important points. Electrical stimulation of the SN leads to a decrease in β -PEA biosynthesis. The levels of β -PEA in the striatum are dependent upon tyrosine hydroxylase activity since α -methyl-*p*-tyrosine prevented these changes. Finally, β -PEA is synthesized in tyrosine hydroxylase-containing dopamine neurons, and not in D-cells, which are present in the SN and which may project to the striatum.

While these studies intimate that β -PEA may be *exclusively* present with dopamine in the SN, additional experimentation suggests that L-AADC is expressed in additional non-dopaminergic regions. Li et al. (1992b) used cultured rat glia derived from the striatum and C6 glioma cells to show that both the cell lines express L-AADC mRNA and protein. Despite the fact that L-AADC mRNA and protein were expressed at lower levels than those found in kidney, this indicated that nondopaminergic glial cells from the striatum can potentially synthesize TYR, TRP and β-PEA. In fact, the cellular distribution of L-AADC in noncatecholaminergic and non-indoleaminergic neurons may be more extensive than previously known. Eaton et al. (1993) applied the technique of *in situ* hybridization using an anti-sense probe directed towards the L-AADC mRNA and mapped the distribution of those cells that express the L-AADC mRNA in the rat brain. In addition to the expression of the L-AADC mRNA in the traditional catecholaminergic and indolaminergic nuclei, L-AADC mRNA was also expressed, albeit at a lower level, in non-catecholaminergic or non-indolaminergic cells in the medial prefrontal cortex, olfactory bulb, thalamic nuclei, cranial-nerve nuclei, deep cerebellar nuclei and pyramidal neurons of the hippocampus. These results suggest that the L-AADC enzyme has a more *expansive* role than just simply the synthesis of catechol and phenolic amines (for review, see Berry et al., 1996).

5. Trace amines as neurotransmitters or neuromodulators

As stated in Young (1988) and in accordance with semantic information theory, a system is an aggregation of material entities that endures through time and whose entities influence each other. Information is communicated, or transmitted, by a sender in one part of a physico-chemical system through a communication channel, or medium, to a receiver in another part of the system. The purpose of this transfer of information in biological systems is to assist homeostasis.

Consistent with these principles, Fuxe and Agnati (1991) have characterized chemical communication between neurons

in the brain based on a number of criteria.³ Additionally, distinct types, or modes, of chemical communication in the brain have been described based on the presence or absence of synaptic profiles and the distance between their sites of release and the receptors involved in producing a cellular response stereotypical to that effector. This refers to the so-called, *synaptic* or *non-synaptic* modes of release.⁴

Ultrastructural evidence suggests the varicosities of noradrenaline and serotonin axons in the cerebral cortex rarely are apposed to membrane specializations, or synaptic complexes that typically are identified with synaptic transmission (Descarries et al., 1975, 1977). These observations prompted the suggestion (Beaudet and Descarries, 1978) that noradrenaline and serotonin may be released non-synaptically to diffuse through the extracellular fluid as humoral agents to reach their distant target cells. Subsequent ultrastructural evidence has confirmed in large part the rare occurrence of differentiated junctional specializations associated with noradrenaline- and serotonin-containing axons in the cerebral cortex (Séguéla et al., 1989, 1990). For dopamine, the majority of available quantitative ultrastructural evidence suggests a high incidence of junctional specializations associated with dopamine-containing axon terminals in the cerebral cortex (Séguéla et al., 1988). Together with the known lack of neuroanatomical overlap between noradrenaline and serotonin receptors and the sites of the release of these substances (Beaudet and Descarries, 1978), these observations have implied that the vast majority of noradrenaline and serotonin in the cerebral cortex may be released non-synaptically, while the majority of dopamine in the cerebral cortex may be released synaptically.

Using the dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin systems described above as representative examples, two general modes of chemical communication in the mammalian brain may exist based on the presence or absence of pre- or post-synaptic membrane specializations associated with synaptic connectivity of the chemical communication agent. These involve *wiring* and *volume* transmission. Wiring transmission is believed to operate via synaptic connectivity while volume transmission operates via the non-synaptic release and diffusion of chemical molecules via a leaking pathway, such as the extracellular fluid, to access their high-affinity receptors expressed on remote target cells (Agnati et al., 1986a,b; Fuxe and Agnati, 1991; Fuxe et al., 1989).⁵

³ These comprise the distance between the sites of release of synaptic mediators and their respective receptors, the concentration of the signals in the communication medium, and the affinity of the receptors for the communication molecule.

⁴ Synaptic release has been identified with molecules that typically induce fast [in milliseconds (ms)] post-synaptic potentials (PSPs) in their target cells. These are the *transmitters*. Non-synaptic release, by contrast, has been associated with molecules that induce relatively slower [in seconds (s)] modulatory, PSPs on their target cells; these are the *modulators*.

⁵ There are a number of physico-chemical factors which will limit the extent of transmission (diffusion) of a volume communication molecule from its site(s) of release: the local synaptic and neuropilar geometry, the polarity of the communication molecule, the presence of and spatial distribution of sinks for the molecule, such as binding proteins and/or receptors, and finally the spatial distribution of and rates of enzymatic biosynthesis and catabolism by enzymes for that molecule.

5.1. Ionotropic and metabotropic chemical communication

In dopamine and noradrenaline systems, regardless of the mechanism of release, both synaptic or non-synaptic release of the catecholamine is associated with *slow* G-protein-mediated *neuromodulatory* responses in post-synaptic target neurons (Hepler and Gilman, 1992). Thus, defining the mode of release does not necessarily distinguish a neurotransmitter from a neuromodulator, and it thus seems as though the distinction may indeed be arbitrary. It may be that there are no neurotransmitters, but only modulators of modulators! Nevertheless, neuromodulators traditionally have been differentiated from neurotransmitters based on a number of additional characteristics. These most often are based on the nature of the post-synaptic response, which is complex, and/or the time course of action, which often is slow to materialize (Dismukes, 1979; Hartzel, 1981; Fuxe and Agnati, 1991; Greengard, 2001).

Following the classification scheme of McGeer et al. (1978), two general categories of chemical synaptic communication may be proposed to exist in the brain, based on the nature of the post-synaptic response: *ionotropic* and *metabotropic* transmission. *In vitro* neurophysiological studies suggest that, similar to many of the fast-ON and fast-OFF IPSPs or excitatory PSPs (EPSPs) that conventional amino acid neurotransmitters like glutamate and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) have on neurons (Iversen, 1984), many of the post-synaptic responses causing changes in neuronal firing seen with the trace amines also may be of a direct and rapid nature (see Section 10). These effects appear to be fast, on the order of approximately ms in duration, and therefore may be termed *ionotropic* responses because they are mediated by the opening or closing of post-synaptic, receptor-gated ion channels.⁶

Other types of post-synaptic responses of trace amines, like those influencing the effects of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin, are more complex, have longer latencies, are longer lasting (>1 s), and specifically amplify or *potentiate* the postsynaptic IPSPs or EPSPs induced by dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin (see Section 9). These may be termed *metabotropic* because they stimulate or inhibit the biosynthesis of secondmessengers, such as the InsP₃/Ca²⁺ response, 1,2-diacylglycerol (DAG), and cyclic nucleotides, such as cyclic adenine monophosphate (cAMP), by the activation of G proteins which then either stimulate or inhibit various effector enzymes that synthesize those second messengers (Noda et al., 2004).

6. A classic model of trace amine function

In a seminal article, Boulton (1976b) suggested that the trace amines may have both *direct* and *indirect* modulatory effects on synaptic transmission mediated by the major catecholamine and indolamine neurotransmitters dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin. The direct effects involve either the synaptic vesicular release of the trace amine, or following its biosynthesis, non-vesicular spontaneous *diffusion* from the presynaptic nerve terminal (Attwell et al., 1993). The indirect effects involve the uptake block and/or release of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin from their presynaptic vesicular storage sites. These modulatory effects of the trace amines may occur by preactivation, simultaneous activation, or postactivation of particular biochemical components of the dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin-based signal transduction system (Brinton, 1990).

Boulton (1976b) suggested that the *direct* modulatory effects would alter the sensitivity of some biophysical parameter of the post-synaptic membrane of cells possessing GPCRs for dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin, presumably by ionotropic or metabotropic means. Specifically, the tonic or phasic-vesicular or diffusional release of trace amines from their presynaptic sites of synthesis would induce miniature PSPs (mini-PSPs) – analogous to those described by Katz (1971) - in the post-synaptic membrane of cells bearing catecholamine or indolamine GPCRs. These sub-threshold mini-PSPs would function to prime a circumscribed area of the postsynaptic membrane by continually maintaining just that local area of the post-synaptic membrane affected in a state of enhanced sensitivity. This enhancement or synergy between the trace amines - particularly TRP - and the catecholamines or serotonin, may be necessary for enhancing the specificity and fidelity of information transfer within cells sensitive to their combined effects (Jones and Boulton, 1980b; see Section 10.3).

To be of value, this enhancement of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin synaptic efficacy would require several prerequisites. The actions of the trace amine(s) could be exerted *tonically* or *phasically*. To be of value, the phasic release of the trace amine would require temporal and/or spatial association with the post-synaptic, GPCR-mediated metabotropic electrochemical effects of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin on their target cells. The temporal association events would require biochemical interactions to take place *simultaneously* or otherwise *synchronously*, while the spatially coordinated events would have the signal transduction processes coupled in the same patch of post-synaptic membrane.

In contrast to the phasic effects, in Boulton's model the trace amines may also be *continuously* present at the catecholamine or indolamine synapse in the extracellular fluid, at levels which at least for β -PEA are comparable to that of dopamine (Henry et al., 1988). This *tonic* presence comprises a system that entails the continuous simultaneous activity of the trace amines for the modulation of the dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin synapse. This may be important for enhancing the excitability of neurons, as has been observed for the tonic activation of *N*methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors by glutamate (Sah et al., 1989).

One must be mindful also that the trace amines may, by phasic preactivation, initiate or *sensitize* particular biochemical processes that outlast the presence of the modulator in the synaptic cleft. In either case, this continual presence affords the trace amines the potential for the maintenance of the initial conditions necessary for either the coordination of, or

⁶ It is believed these fast PSPs permit the cell to perform a large number of computations in a short period of time (McCormick, 1990); while slow PSPs are believed to be important in the long-term control of membrane excitability, and not in the high-frequency transfer of information (Hartzel, 1981).

maintenance of, particular modes of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin post-synaptic signal transduction (Jones, 1983).

Since the post-synaptic effects of the catecholamines and serotonin are themselves considered to be *modulatory* for other types of synaptic transmitter, it may be that the trace amines are indeed modulators, or *adjunctive* modulators of neuromodulators, and perturbations in their adjunctive modulatory roles, whether through stress or psychiatric disease, may have subtle effects on catecholamine- or serotonin-dependent cognitive or motor functions.

7. Multi-focal or *protean* neuromodulatory activities of the trace amines

In accordance with the views of Boulton (1976b), the response(s) to the trace amines could be interpreted in the context of involving multiple or *protean* pre- or post-synaptic, metabotropic-mediated events incorporating intracellular signal transduction mechanisms similar to those utilized by other, better-understood effects of more conventional neuromodulatory agents (Kaczmarek and Levitan, 1987):

- As characterized below these neuromodulatory, or metabotropic responses induced by the trace amines, may depend ultimately on the *lipophilic* properties of the trace amines.
- They also may occur through the direct trace-amine, GPCRmediated activation of intracellular mechanisms of signal transduction, which associate either *additively* or *synergistically* with a biochemical step of the dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin-based mechanisms of signal transduction.
- They may occur indirectly through the mechanism of *allosteric* activation of proteins of the dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin-based post-synaptic mechanisms of signal transduction.

7.1. Lipophilicity of the trace amines

The non-polar nature, or lipophilicity, of the trace amines, in particular TRP and β -PEA, may play an indirect role in the types of modulation mentioned above. Oldendorf (1971) has established a relative lipophilicity series for the efficacy of β -PEA, TRP, TYR, dopamine, and noradrenaline for crossing the blood–brain barrier. The degree of this lipophilicity unit is highly correlated with the lipid permeability of the relevant amine.⁷ Thus, β -PEA and TRP, due to their greater lipophilicity values relative to dopamine and noradrenaline, TYR and OA, may readily diffuse from their presynaptic sites of biosynthesis, and partition preferentially into other sub-cellular compartments of the cell or into the plasma membrane of neighboring post-synaptic neurons.

Research into the physicochemical requirements for, and mechanisms of action of protein kinase C (PKC), has demonstrated a complex process for activation that depends upon concentrations of intracellular Ca²⁺, the phospholipid phosphatidylserine, and the biosynthesis of the membranedelimited, non-polar DAG molecule (Zidovetzki and Lester, 1992). The activation of PKC is dependent on, and sensitive to, local membrane instabilities such as the physicochemical fluctuations of the phospholipid bilayer induced following biosynthesis of DAG. Physicochemical fluctuations in the structure of the plasma membrane, such as those induced by the biosynthesis of DAG, have been demonstrated as serving important allosteric modulating factors in determining protein– lipid interactions and the state of activation of PKC-dependent signal transduction systems (Zidovetzki and Lester, 1992).

Non-polar trace amines such as DMT, TRP and β -PEA may induce similar changes in membrane phase in post-synaptic membranes similar to the changes induced by DAG. By spatial or temporal association, or second messenger *cross-talk*, these phase changes may contribute either directly or indirectly to the post-synaptic, metabotropic modulatory responses evoked by β -PEA, TRP and TYR.

7.2. Vesicular or non-vesicular release of the trace amines

While the experiments reviewed below may imply the existence of a vesicular release mechanism for β -PEA, TRP and TYR, since in fact these trace amines exhibit a particulate, i.e., synaptosomal, localization (Boulton and Baker, 1975), the *majority* of the empirical evidence available does not support this model for those amines. Reserpine is a drug that depletes catecholamine storage (Carlsson et al., 1963) and it is well known that dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin are localized to a reserpine-sensitive pool of synaptic vesicles (Shore et al., 1955; Bertler, 1961; Stjärne and Lishajko, 1966). It is likely that β -PEA, TRP and TYR are absent from such synaptic vesicles since reserpine treatment by itself (Boulton et al., 1977) or in the presence of MAO-inhibitors (Juorio, 1988b) results in either no change in, or an increase in, β -PEA concentrations, respectively.

This lack of a specific vesicular storage mechanism for β -PEA, TRP and TYR explains their *greater turnover rates* as compared with dopamine or noradrenaline, which are stored in vesicles (Durden and Phillips, 1980). Similarly, studies dealing with synaptic release have demonstrated that β -PEA and TRP are poorly taken up, stored, and released from striatal brain slices following stimulation by neuronal depolarization via electrical or K⁺-induced stimulation (Dyck, 1984, 1989; Dyck et al., 1982). These manipulations all typically lead to the release of vesicularly localized synaptic transmitter molecules.

By contrast, it is known that the following types of release can occur: Ca^{2+} -dependent, electrically evoked, or K⁺-evoked synaptosomal release of [³H]- β -PEA from striatal slices (Niddam et al., 1985), of [³H]-TRP from slices of spinal cord (Snodgrass and Iverson, 1974), and electrically-sensitive, K⁺sensitive, or veratridine-sensitive release of *m*-TYR and *p*-TYR

⁷ β-PEA > TRP > noradrenaline > dopamine > TYR. β-PEA is seen as the most lipophilic of the trace amines and TYR the least. While OA was not studied, the fact that it possesses an additional β-hydroxyl group indicates that it is more water soluble than TYR. Similarly, the possession of twin methyl groups by DMT suggests it is more lipophilic than β-PEA. So a revised series may be conceived as: DMT > β-PEA > TRP > noradrenaline > dopamine > OA > TYR.

in the presence and the absence of MAO inhibitors from slices of the striatum (Dyck, 1984, 1988, 1989; Dyck et al., 1982). The investigations by Dyck (1989) also suggest the release of [³H]-TRP could occur according to the criteria of a false transmitter (Kopin, 1968), since the measurements of [³H]-TRP by Snodgrass and Iverson (1974) were undertaken in the presence of the MAO inhibitor pargyline.

OA exhibits a subcellular (i.e., synaptosomal) distribution similar to noradrenaline (Molinoff and Axelrod, 1972). OA also is present in noradrenaline terminals in the CNS, since the administration of 6-OHDA severely reduced the ability of rat brain slices to release both [³H]-noradrenaline and [³H]-OA following electrical or K⁺-induced depolarization (Baldessarini and Vogt, 1971, 1972). This same study also demonstrated that *p*-TYR is poorly released by the same stimuli which released noradrenaline and OA.

Thus, the empirical evidence for a vesicular release model of p-TYR appears contradictory. Still, the majority of evidence suggests that either TYR and OA may function as conventional transmitters or co-transmitters in catecholamine terminals by virtue of the presence of cellular mechanisms for their cytoplasmic transport, vesicular uptake, storage, and release from presynaptic nerve terminals. On the other hand, the cellular mechanisms for cytoplasmic transport, vesicular uptake, storage and release of β -PEA and TRP do not appear to exist. Therefore β -PEA and TRP are unlikely to function conventionally as synaptic transmitters or co-transmitters in mammalian brain according to these criteria.

7.3. Trace amines as indirect releasing agents

In general, the responses of trace amines may be divided into two major groups: those that affect the post-synaptic neuron directly by mimicking the physiological effects of the catecholamines or serotonin without interacting with the presynaptic terminal, and those that affect the function of the catecholamine- and/or indoleamine-releasing mechanism. This latter process is referred to as the *indirect* mechanism of action while the former is the *direct* mechanism.

Indirect stimulation of the pre-synaptic terminal by the trace amines, or by amphetamine, MDMA or cocaine through modulating the reuptake of neurotransmitter, or stimulating release from storage vesicles, could result in a net increase of neurotransmitter release and subsequent activation of the postsynaptic catecholamine, indoleamine or trace amine receptors (Borowsky et al., 2001; Sotnikova et al., 2004; Miller et al., 2005). The trace amines can potentially stimulate the presynaptic neuron through several mechanisms:

- Inhibition of transmitter reuptake by binding to a specific site of the membrane protein transporter, such as the dopamine transporter (DAT).
- Activation of neurotransmitter synthesis by blocking presynaptic dopamine D₂ auto-receptors.
- Displacement of vesicular and cytoplasmic catecholamines, which then passively diffuse into the synaptic cleft through a Ca²⁺-independent process.

It is also possible that at certain synapses, the trace amines could function as *mixed-action agonists*, having the property of directly stimulating post-synaptic receptors while simultaneously increasing the activity of, and neurotransmitter release from, the pre-synaptic terminal. In such cases, the trace amine function would require careful analysis for the accurate description of the relative proportion of each of its separate mechanisms of action.

7.3.1. Evidence for tyramine and octopamine

TYR is sympathomimetically active and is used as an experimental tool to study the mechanisms of noradrenaline release in sympathetic neurons. TYR, β -PEA and other indirectly acting sympathomimetics have chemical structures similar to ephedrine and amphetamines, and, as such, are taken into the pre-synaptic terminal by the same amine membrane transporter. They then affect the release of noradrenaline by displacing it from the cytoplasmic pools of vesicles and causing it to diffuse into the synaptic cleft (Raiteri et al., 1977; Knoll et al., 1996). By binding to the catecholamine membrane transporter the sympathomimetics also interfere with the amine reuptake mechanism and prolong the post-synaptic effects of the transmitter molecules already in the cleft (Raiteri et al., 1977); some sympathomimetics have a mixed action.

Specifically, the central stimulatory effects of ephedrine are caused by stimulation of post-synaptic β -nor adrenaline receptors and an increase in noradrenaline release, activating α - and β -noradrenaline receptors. TYR may not normally function in the brain as a catecholamine releaser because its concentration in blood and tissues is kept low by rapid deamination by MAO-A/B (Philips, 1984).

However, when patients treated for depression with MAO inhibitors consume certain foods rich in TYR, a severe hypertensive crisis can be provoked. The hypertensive reaction is caused by TYR-induced noradrenaline release. In patients chronically treated with MAO inhibitors, TYR levels are steadily increased. Once in the noradrenergic terminal, TYR is transported into synaptic vesicles and rapidly converted by dopamine- β -hydroxylase into OA. OA partially displaces noradrenaline and may serve as a false neurotransmitter in the periphery. Because of the partial substitution of noradrenaline with OA, and the inability of OA to potently stimulate postsynaptic α - and β -noradrenaline receptors, patients receiving chronic doses of MAO inhibitors suffer from hypotension.

7.3.2. Evidence for β -phenylethylamine

In the periphery, TYR and β -PEA act as indirect sympatomimetics to increase the activity of the sympathetic neuron. In the CNS, the trace amines and chemically similar drugs may function as psychostimulants and antidepressants by enhancing catecholaminergic and indoleaminergic neurotransmission. This enhancement seems to be based on *protean* mechanisms with the *net* result being the increase of neurotransmitter release and *potentiation* of post-synaptic catecholamine or indoleamine GPCR signaling pathways, or possible trace amine-GPCR-mediated effects (Bunzow et al., 2001). The strongest evidence available that the trace amines can function as indirectly acting agonists comes from studies using β -PEA (Nakamura et al., 1998), TYR (Knoll et al., 1996), and TRP (Jones and Boulton, 1980b).

β-PEA administered intraventricularly rapidly increases the extracellular dopamine concentrations in the rat striatum through competitive inhibition of dopamine reuptake by the DAT within nigrostriatal dopaminergic terminals (Sato et al., 1996). B-PEA-induced dopamine release from striatal slices can also be modulated by dopaminergic autoreceptor agonists and antagonists (Yamada et al., 1998). In the presence of the presynaptic dopamine autoreceptor agonist quinpirole, a molecule that reduces dopamine release from the nigrostriatal terminals, perfusion with β -PEA results in an attenuation (by 30%) of dopamine release. Striatal dopamine release induced by the dopamine D_2 selective antagonist sulpiride, also is attenuated by β -PEA (Yamada et al., 1998). Trace amines can also increase the efflux of newly synthesized dopamine. Geracitano et al. (2004) deduced that the inhibition of nigral dopamine neurons produced by perfused TYR or β -PEA was due to enhanced efflux of dendritic dopamine and the resulting activation of synthesis, modulating dopamine D_2 autoreceptors.

Although the precise mechanisms of autoreceptor-regulated transmitter release are still not clear, these findings suggest that at least two mechanisms exist for *indirectly* acting catecholamine modulation by β -PEA in the striatum. First, β -PEA may act by blocking the reuptake of dopamine by the DAT, and secondly it may modulate inhibitory dopamine D₂ autoreceptors. These suggestions receive support from the observation that β -PEA is a dopamine receptor agonist in the striatum, and that it can act by enhancing the behavioral and electrophysiological effects of dopamine on post-synaptic striatal neurons (Rodriguez and Barroso, 1995; Barroso and Rodriguez, 1996).

The *indirect* effects of β -PEA are not restricted to dopaminecontaining neurons. β -PEA and TYR enhance the release of both noradrenaline and dopamine from catecholamine-containing terminals in mammalian brain (Knoll et al., 1996). In the nucleus accumbens of the rat, *in vivo* microdialysis of β -PEA increases the extracellular concentrations of both dopamine and serotonin (Nakamura et al., 1998). Similar results have been obtained from the glomerular layer of the rat olfactory bulb, where higher doses of β -PEA (10.0 mg/kg) increase the concentrations of dopamine and noradrenaline as measured by an electrochemical detection method (Mesfioui et al., 1998).

Accumulating evidence suggests that under certain conditions the trace amines and other catecholamine enhancers, such as (–)-deprenyl, can inhibit the catabolic actions of MAO-A/B. Although the trace amines are substrates for MAO-A/B, certain trace amine analogs can function as MAO inhibitors. For example, introducing a chloride or fluoride atom into the phenyl ring of β -PEA or TRP changes them from MAO substrates to MAO inhibitors (Kinemuchi et al., 1988). Similarly, the introduction of a methyl group into the β -position of β -PEA results in a derivative that is a selective MAO-B inhibitor. α methylation of TYR results in TYR analogs that are strong MAO inhibitors. Systemic administration of those compounds in the rat induces hallucinogen-like abnormal beaviors (Arai et al., 1995). In summary, the trace amines can have strong reinforcing or enhancing effects on the major catecholamine and indoleamine systems of the brain by an action on the presynaptic terminals. Thus, the trace amines can function as indirectly acting agonists there through an enhancement of transmitter release, by blocking reuptake, via stimulating transmitter synthesis, or because of a suppression of MAO catabolic activity.

8. Trace amine-binding sites in mammalian brain

If in fact the trace amines, such as TYR and OA, do function as synaptic transmitters or co-transmitters within catecholaminergic systems and thereby act as chemical agents of the wiring mode of neurotransmission, then according to the criteria of Laduron (1988) there should be reversibly saturable, high affinity and regionally specific binding sites. These binding sites would represent either/or pre- or postsynaptically localized receptors that would be readily demonstrable and would present contiguously with the presynaptic sites of release of the trace amines in the mammalian brain. One would also expect to find these sites particularly concentrated in the striatum, cerebral cortex, and hypothalamus, where these trace amines are present at their highest tissue levels. While there remains a scarcity of studies focusing on the immunocytochemical localization of the trace amines in mammalian brain, there is a substantial body of research that has focused on the characterization of trace amine binding sites, their distributions and pharmacological specificities in mammalian brain.

In general, two neuroanatomical patterns of distribution of trace amines and their cognate receptors are possible: a trace amine-receptor overlap, or a *matching*. This latter situation would be when the distribution of a particular trace amine, as visualized through immunocytochemistry or autoradiography and its binding site(s), are spatially coexistent. The second possibility is a so-called trace amine-receptor *mismatch*, in which there is a spatial disparity between the sites of release of the trace amine and its receptor.⁸ If such a situation were to pertain for trace amines, this easily might imply that the trace amines could function extrasynaptically as *humoral* agents for interaction with relatively more distant (>1.0 mm) receptors via *volume transmission* (Fuxe and Agnati, 1991).

8.1. Evidence for tyramine

Borowsky et al. (2001) identified a trace amine receptor, TAAR1 that is most sensitive to TYR (EC₅₀ = 214.0 nM) and less sensitive to OA and dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin, in generating cAMP biosynthesis within COS-7 cells. [³H]-TYR displayed high affinity, saturable binding to TAAR1 (K_d = 20.0 nM) from these cells. Bunzow et al. (2001) also separately described this receptor. Strikingly, TAAR1

⁸ For the majority of chemical mediators of synaptic transmission, a mismatch of receptors with transmitters is more often the *rule* rather than the exception in mammalian brain (Herkenham and McLean, 1986; Herkenham, 1987; Herkenham, 1991).

generates cAMP comparable to or slightly less than that generated by TYR, when exposed to LSD and DMT, or amphetamine and MDMA,⁹ indicating a possible direct receptor-mediated mode of action for these drugs in addition to their well-described effects on serotonergic 5-HT_{2A/C} receptors, and catecholamine uptake and vesicular storage, respectively (Bunzow et al., 2001; for reviews, see Seiden et al., 1993; Marek and Aghajanian, 1998; Jacob and Presti, 2005). Thus, TAAR1 may well contribute a *novel* mode of action to the hallucinogenic drugs, and to the stimulant and reinforcing properties of the psychostimulants. In fact, GPCRs responsive to both trace amines and these drugs suggest a novel possibility that some of the physiological effects of all these molecules may involve a common molecular signaling pathway in neurons (Ciprian-Ollivier and Cetkovich-Bakmas, 1997).

Of the five human TAARs, only TAAR1 mRNA expression has been mapped in mammalian brain. Using in situ hybridization histochemistry the TAAR1 mRNA has been localized within the mouse brain by both groups. TAAR1 mRNA is expressed densely within the olfactory bulb, cerebral cortex and ventral horn of the spinal cord; moderately expressed within the thalamus, hypothalamus, hippocampus, SN-VTA, locus coeruleus and dorsal raphe, with lower levels of TAAR1 expression detected from the cerebellum, dorsal root ganglion, basal ganglia and amygdala (Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001). Unfortunately, only the TAAR1 and TAAR4 are directly activated by trace amines, while other TAARs are not (Borowsky et al., 2001). These receptor proteins are members of a novel and highly related family of GPCR molecules expressed within human, rat, mouse and chimpanzee tissues (Lindemann et al., 2005; Lewin, 2006).

Another high affinity and specific binding site for TYR has been identified and characterized in the mammalian brain (Vaccari, 1988). It is not known whether this binding site is a trace amine receptor, in particular TAAR1. This binding site bound *p*-TYR with nanomolar affinity ($K_d = 10.8-14.4$ nM) and was highly concentrated in dopamine- and noradrenalinerich regions such as the striatum and hypothalamus (Vaccari, 1986). Pharmacological characterization of this p-TYR binding site has demonstrated that it is specific for p-TYR:p-OA was described as being only a weak displacer of p-TYR binding but p-TYR was displaced potently by all other compounds recognized as uptake inhibitors of dopamine: amphetamine, nomifensine, and methamphetamine. In addition reserpine, an irreversible inhibitor of the dopamine and noradrenaline vesicular transporters, was the most potent competitor of p-TYR binding (Vaccari, 1986). Moreover, mechanical lesions of the nigro-striatal pathway resulted in a 79% reduction of *p*-TYR binding in the striatum (Vaccari, 1986). The *p*-TYR binding site thus appears to be associated with presynaptic dopamine-containing nerve terminals. Based on this evidence this *p*-TYR binding site is proposed to be a site on the vesicular membrane transporter for dopamine (Vaccari, 1993).

8.2. Evidence for octopamine

A neurotransmitter role for OA is well described, where OA is considered the invertebrate counterpart to noradrenaline (Roeder et al., 2003). In invertebrates, OA is necessary for a wide variety of physiological processes and behaviors (Kravitz, 1988; Hammer and Menzel, 1998). The pharmacological characterization of OA binding sites from the locust neuromuscular junction using select agonists and antagonists has yielded a description of at least two distinct subclasses of OA receptor, OA₁ and OA₂ (Evans, 1981). The OA₂ subclass has been differentiated further based on the selectivity of the evoked responses for different agonists, and these receptors have been described as OA_{2a} and OA_{2b} subtypes (Evans, 1981). These subclasses of receptor are coupled to different second messenger systems, that is the OA₁ receptor appears to be coupled to an increase in intracellular levels of Ca²⁺ (Evans, 1984a) and both subtypes of the OA_2 receptors appear to be coupled to increases in the synthesis of cAMP (Evans, 1984b,c). A pharmacologically distinct class of OA receptor similar to the OA2 subclass of OA receptor has been identified in the CNS of the locust (Guillen et al., 1989). This OA₃ receptor also is coupled to increases in cAMP and is found highly concentrated in the optic lobes of the locust (Roeder and Nathanson, 1993). Additional OA GPCRs have recently been discovered. These receptors – DmOct β_{1R} , DmOct β_{2R} and DmOct β_{3R} – are expressed within *Drosophila* neurons, have homology to mammalian β -noradrenaline receptors and are able to drive the expression of cAMP when expressed within CHO cells (Maqueria et al., 2005).

A subtype of noradrenaline receptor, the β_3 receptor, has been demonstrated to bind to OA with an affinity comparable to that of noradrenaline or other noradrenaline agonists (Galitzky et al., 1993). However, this receptor is present only in peripheral tissues and is not known to be expressed in mammalian brain (Granneman et al., 1991). Thus evolutionary descendents of the OA₁, OA₂ or OA₃ receptors or their subtypes or other atypical α - or β -noradrenaline receptor subtypes may be present in the spinal cord and/or the cerebral cortex to mediate the postsynaptic effects of OA.

A mammalian CNS receptor strongly activated by OA remains elusive. The TAAR1 discovered by Borowsky et al. (2001) is weakly activated by OA and generates cAMP when expressed from COS-7 cells ($EC_{50} = 4029.0$ nM) (Borowsky et al., 2001). While the TAAR1 mRNA is expressed in brain regions which have been shown to be responsive to OA (see Hicks and McLennan, 1978a,b), it is unclear as to the contribution of the TAAR1 to the physiological effects characterized by those researchers.

⁹ Bunzow et al. (2001) determined the rank order of EC₅₀ values for the trace amines, isomers and related molecules in generating cAMP from the TA₁ receptor expressed within HEK293 cells as follows from lowest to highest: *p*tyramine $< \beta$ -PEA < tryptamine < S(+)-amphetamine < R(-)-amphetamine = DMT $< (\pm)$ -synephrine $< (\pm)$ -octopamine $< (\pm)$ -MDMA < m-tyramine \leq dopamine < serotonin \ll noradrenaline = adrenaline (for a comparative summary of the EC₅₀ values with different TAARs generated by Bunzow et al., 2001; Borowsky et al., 2001; Lindemann et al., 2005; see Lewin, 2006).

8.3. Evidence for tryptamine and dimethyltryptamine

TRP also displayed a capacity - albeit weak - to stimulate cAMP biosynthesis from the TAAR4 when expressed from COS-7 cells (Borowsky et al., 2001). Nonetheless, the existence of saturable and reversible ($K_d = 1.5-5.0 \text{ nM}$) [³H]-TRP binding site(s) in the rat brain has been known for years (Kellar and Casio, 1982; Wood et al., 1984; Altar et al., 1986; Perry, 1986). The distribution of TRP binding sites in the rat brain is heterogeneous, with the highest concentrations found in the striatum, cortex, and hippocampus (Nguyen et al., 1989). In the human brain, [³H]-TRP also binds with high affinity in a saturable and reversible manner (Mousseau and Butterworth, 1994). These binding sites also are unevenly distributed with the highest densities found in the hippocampus and thalamus and lower densities expressed within the medulla and cerebellum. TRP binding sites are distributed heterogeneously within the neocortical layers (Mousseau and Butterworth, 1995). The density of these binding sites parallels their regional concentration differences (Philips et al., 1974; Warsh et al., 1979; Larson and Dalo, 1986).

In rats treated chronically with the MAO-A inhibitor clorgyline, the number of TRP binding sites decreases significantly but there is no change in the affinity of [³H]-TRP in the cerebral cortex (Casio and Kellar, 1986; Graham and Langer, 1987). These findings suggest that TRP may interact with a functional post-synaptic receptor since a commonly observed response to reducing the normal ligand-receptor interaction through chemical lesioning is the increase in receptor sensitivity and excitability of the post-synaptic neuron. This phenomenon is observed after chronic treatment with 6-OHDA. In rats treated with 6-OHDA, alterations in [³H]-TRP binding properties in the striatum have been found (Nguyen et al., 1989). Six weeks after unilateral 6-OHDA lesions in the SN, striatal ³H]-TRP binding is increased whereas concentrations of TRP are decreased. At the same time, ipsilateral to the lesion caudate neurons show a dramatic (10-15-fold) increase in the inhibition of neuronal firing rate in response to intravenous administration of TRP. This suggests there is an alteration in receptor sensitivity that most likely is due to the loss of TRP (Nguyen et al., 1989).

The results from these studies suggest that TRP is released from 6-OHDA-sensitive, dopamine-containing terminals in the striatum and that [³H]-TRP binding sites are not located on terminals containing dopamine because it is known that TRP affects the activity of the post-synaptic neuron after the terminals are lesioned (Nguyen et al., 1989).

Behavioral and pharmacological studies in rats suggest DMT behaves as an agonist at serotonin 5-HT_{2C} and 5-HT_{2A} receptors (Smith et al., 1998). A non-serotonin receptor specific for DMT expressed within rat brain has been speculated upon (Barker et al., 1981). This DMT receptor may be the receptor which has been characterized within rat brain synaptosomal membranes as having a sub-nanomolar affinity for DMT and LSD, and when stimulated by these molecules is capable of driving the biosynthesis of cAMP (Bearden et al., 1977). DMT also exhibits a strong capacity – comparable to that of TYR – of eliciting cAMP biosynthesis from TAAR1 when expressed within HEK293 cells (Bunzow et al., 2001).

8.4. Evidence for β -phenylethylamine

It has been suggested that β -PEA may activate TAAR1 expressed within neurons or their projections to the SN-VTA or the basal ganglia (Borowsky et al., 2001; Miller et al., 2005; Berretta et al., 2005; Ishida et al., 2005a; Ishida et al., 2005b). Like TYR, β -PEA potently activates cAMP biosynthesis (EC₅₀ = 240.0 nM) coupled to TAAR1 when expressed from either COS-7 or HEK293 cells (Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001). β -PEA also generates cAMP from activation of TAAR4 from heterologous COS-7 cells, but with a much lower potency (EC₅₀ = 1.9 μ M) (Borowsky et al., 2001).

Taguchi et al. (2005a) as well as Kato et al. (2001) suggest activation of the cortical TAAR1 may underlie the systemic administered β -PEA-stimulated release of striatal acetylcholine, through activation of the corticostriatal α -amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate (AMPA) glutamatergic pathway. Paterson et al. (1990) has suggested that β -PEA may underlie the *potentiation* of dopamine synaptic efficacy by the direct allosteric activation of a unique target protein coupled to postsynaptic mechanisms of catecholamine signal transduction, such as the β -PEA receptor described by Hauger et al. (1982).

In the work of Hauger et al. (1982) β -PEA binding was not displaced by many compounds, including a variety of psychotherapeutic agents that bind to cholinergic, dopaminergic or noradrenergic receptors. β -PEA binding is localized preferentially in the hypothalamus and striatum where there is a relatively great amount of β -PEA (Durden and Davis, 1993). Thus there is the potential for β -PEA to act at other sites, such as receptors, independently of the effects of β -PEA on uptake and release at the noradrenaline and dopamine vesicular carrier (Raiteri et al., 1977).

One major caveat is that since β -PEA binding to MAO-B is very strong, the receptor-binding assay of Hauger et al. (1982) should have been performed in the presence of an MAO-B inhibitor but this was not done. Thus, β -PEA may have been binding to MAO-B, the enzyme responsible for its catabolism. When the binding conditions of Hauger et al. (1982) were repeated in the presence of the MAO-B inhibitors pargyline and (–)-deprenyl, the β -PEA binding either was significantly reduced using lower concentration of the inhibitors, or eliminated using higher concentrations of the inhibitors, in a concentration-dependent manner (Li et al., 1992a).

9. Trace amines as *slow* metabotropic neuromodulatory agents

Another protean theme that has emerged from an additional body of physiological studies is the question of the *modulatory* metabotropic effect that the trace amines appear to have on synaptic transmission mediated by other transmitters in the rat brain. This neuromodulatory effect very likely occurs *independently* of the above-mentioned, indirect carrier-mediated effects of β -PEA, *p*-TYR and *p*-OA on the release of dopamine or noradrenaline from presynaptic terminals, since commonly it is elicited following iontophoretic ejection of the trace amines at *low* doses (0–20.0 nA), levels of ejection which show no measurable effect of the trace amine itself on the baseline rate of firing of the neuron studied. These presumptive metabotropic effects may involve a number of different mechanisms:

- As modulators of the physico-chemical state of the neuronal phospholipid bilayer, since to some degree the trace amines are all *lipophilic*.
- By interacting directly with post-synaptically localized metabotropic GPCRs.
- By the *allosteric* activation of a signaling protein of another neurotransmitter-based signal transduction pathway.

Collectively, the state of activation of a potentially diverse array of unknown trace amine-sensitive signaling proteins in the cells that possess GPCRs for dopamine and noradrenaline or other neurotransmitters may be susceptible to modulation by those trace amines. For example, in dopaminergic neurons of the SN, TYR and β -PEA have a depressant effect on the GABA_B-mediated *slow* inhibitory G $\alpha_{i/o}$ protein-mediated inwardly-rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels within these neurons, by activating G proteins that interfere with the coupling between the GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels (Federici et al., 2005; Berretta et al., 2005).

It bears mentioning that all or any combination of these *protean* mechanisms, ionotropic, metabotropic, uptake/releasing effects, and/or changes in membrane phase, may be in operation to a lesser or greater extent at any dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin synapse, and thus may contribute to the post-synaptic, electro-chemical responses to the trace amines.

9.1. A hallmark synergy: vasopressin and noradrenaline

In contrast to the direct, fast ionotropic responses (vide infra) and the indirect presynaptic releasing effects, the metabotropic post-synaptic effects induced by TYR, β-PEA and TRP are much slower. This suggests mediation through a second messengermediated response that is dose-dependent, one that would be elicited only following low-level (0-20.0 nA) iontophoretic administration of the respective trace amine which is specific for and dependent upon the simultaneous presence of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin (Jones, 1981a; Jones, 1982a; Jones and Boulton, 1980a,b; Paterson, 1988, 1993; Paterson et al., 1990). In particular cases this response persists following lesioning of the dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin pathway or nucleus (Jones, 1982b, 1984; Paterson, 1988). These additional post-synaptic effects frequently have been shown to exert a potentiating, enhancing or synergistic action (Jones and Boulton, 1980b; Jones, 1981a, 1982d; Paterson et al., 1990), indicating that the combined post-synaptic effects are greater than the sum of the additive effects with dopamine and/or noradrenaline on the rates of firing of the target cells.

A hallmark neuromodulatory interaction is that between noradrenaline and the neuropeptide, arginine vasopressin (AVP) in the hippocampus. The administration of 250 nM AVP has no measurable effect on basal levels of cAMP from hippocampal slices, whereas the administration of 10.0 μ M noradrenaline results in a three-fold increase in cAMP over basal levels from these slices. When AVP (50.0-250.0 nM) and 10.0 μ M noradrenaline are co-administered, cAMP levels are *potentiated* significantly (five-fold) over basal levels of cAMP. Thus the co-temporaneous presence of AVP is able to potentiate the cAMP response of the cell to noradrenaline (Brinton and McEwen, 1989). If Gardner and Jensen (1981) are correct, this synergistic effect of AVP upon noradrenaline-induced intracellular second-messenger responses will involve the *nonlinear* association between different second messenger systems.

The trace amine-dopamine, -noradrenaline or -serotonin association may also involve "cross-talk" between two different second messenger systems (Paterson and Boulton, 1988). For the noradrenaline-AVP interaction, this certainly appears to be the case. The AVP-induced modulation of noradrenaline-coupled cAMP synthesis is dependent upon a dose-dependent increase in intracellular levels of Ca^{2+} by AVP (Brinton and McEwen, 1989).

9.2. Models of β -phenylethylamine and tryptamine function

The significant lipophilicity of β -PEA (especially) but also TRP and TYR suggests that while they may all block and release vesicularly stored dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin when their concentrations are elevated – a situation which may occur during stress psychiatric disease states or under the influence of MAO-B-inhibiting psychotherapeutic drugs (e.g. (-)-deprenyl) (Knoll et al., 1996) - they are unlikely to be stored and released in a similar mode to how the conventional catecholamine and indolamine synaptic transmitters are stored and released. Dyck (1984) suggested that the poor transport, retention and release of β-PEA and TRP prior to and following depolarizing stimuli implies that these amines are predominantly released *rapidly* from the respective tissue preparations by *diffusion*, rather than by a depolarizing stimulus. The diffusional nature of this release of β -PEA and TRP could be explained on the basis of the lipophilic nature of these trace amines, while the relatively more polar m-TYR, p-TYR and OA may be stored in synaptic vesicles and released following a depolarizing stimulus. In fact, OA and TYR may escape from the peri-synaptic space and modulate more distal (>1.0 mm)elements of the neuronal circuitry via diffusion through the extracellular fluid through processes of volume transmission (Fuxe and Agnati, 1991).

Thus TYR and OA, like the major catecholamines, may be conceived of as *humoral* agents of interneuronal communication by exerting long-range *tonic* physiological effects on more distal neuronal synaptic elements. On the other hand, the high rates of turnover and lipophilicity of β -PEA and TRP suggest that following their biosynthesis and diffusion, these trace amines will more than likely become trapped in more proximal subcellular compartments or neighboring neural membranes.

9.2.1. β -Phenylethylamine

It is possible also that the tonic or phasic diffusional release of the trace amines following their biosyntheses may contribute to the post-synaptic, metabotropic responses after the fashion as described originally by Boulton (1976b) (see Section 6). In the latter case, Paterson et al. (1990) have suggested the following model that is compatible with that offered by Boulton (1976b) to explain the direct post-synaptic modulatory effects of β -PEA on catecholamine-sensitive, post-synaptic target cells.

Following the biosynthesis of β -PEA from the decarboxylation of L-phenylalanine by L-AADC in dopamine- or noradrenaline-containing nerve terminals (Lovenberg et al., 1962), the lipophilic nature of β -PEA will afford the trace amine with the potential to diffuse from the presynaptic nerve terminal. Since the site of synthesis of β -PEA is in the presynaptic nerve terminal containing dopamine, and its catabolic enzyme MAO-B is located in astrocytes (Levitt et al., 1982), β-PEA exists in a graded, steady-state concentration in the synaptic cleft, its prevailing level dependent on its rate of biosynthesis in dopamine-containing neurons and catabolism in astrocytes. According to Paterson et al. (1990), in the synaptic cleft B-PEA may then modulate post-synaptic dopamine receptor signaling, or the presynaptic activity of dopamine through some unknown mechanism, perhaps via the TAAR1 expressed within the SN-VTA and basal ganglia.

9.2.2. Tryptamine

The lesioning data (Juorio and Greenshaw, 1985, 1986; Juorio et al., 1987) suggest that the TRP present in the striatum is not derived from the cells in the dorsal or medial raphe, but is derived from either dopamine neurons in the SN or neurons which are 6-OHDA-sensitive but are 5,7-DHT-insensitive and which also project to the striatum. As cited above, recent immunohistochemical data suggest that although TRP is present in both the dorsal and medial raphe and the SN, the TRP present in the SN is not localized in dopamine-containing neurons there (Dabadie et al., 1990). One possibility that reconciles the lesioning and immunohistochemical data is that the TRP present in the striatum is derived from TRP cells in the SN that project to the striatum and which are 6-OHDA-sensitive and 5,7-DHT-insensitive. These TRP cells may be the D-cells observed in the SN by Jaeger et al. (1984). The physiological investigations by Jones and Boulton (1980b) and Jones (1982b,c,d) suggest a complex functional relationship between TRP and serotonin in the striatum. Other studies posit that TRP resides in dopamine neurons since there is a functional relationship between synaptic concentrations of dopamine and the biosynthesis of TRP (Juorio, 1982) that may be mediated by dopamine D₂ autoreceptor regulation of L-AADC activity (Rossetti et al., 1990).

In an attempt to reconcile this discrepancy, information provided by Juorio and Paterson (1990) supports a proposed model that suggests that TRP is synthesized in dopamine neurons in the SN that project to the striatum. Juorio and Paterson (1990) suggest that following the biosynthesis of TRP by L-AADC from tryptophan, TRP is released as a *paracrine* agent by diffusion, to modulate the activities of adjacent target cells. This modulation may occur through allosteric sites of either pre- and/or postsynaptic serotonin receptors, or via unique TRP receptors not located on dopamine terminals (Nguyen et al., 1989), but located on post-synaptic GABAergic or cholinergic neurons.

10. Could the trace amines function as *fast* ionotropic synaptic neurotransmitters?

In contrast to their *slow* metabotropic modulatory effects and indirect releasing effects on presynaptic uptake in dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin neurons, if the trace amines do function as *fast* synaptic, ionotropic neurotransmitters or cotransmitters in dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin systems, then accordingly the definitions of Burnstock (1976) and the criteria proposed by Barchas et al. (1978) for a synaptic neurotransmitter should pertain. Thus, there should be present in the mammalian brain mechanisms for their vesicular uptake and storage, Ca²⁺-dependent release, Na⁺-dependent cytoplasmic reuptake following release, recycling into synaptic vesicles or enzymatic deactivation, and the presence of trace amine receptors mediating their pre- and/or post-synaptic ionotropic responses, contiguous with their vesicular release sites (Herkenham, 1991). As elaborated above, many of these criteria have been fulfilled by various trace amines. However, there remains a lack of extensive empirical support for the trace amines to exert fast ionotropic responses and thus to fulfill a role as a *fast* synaptic transmitter or co-transmitter in processes of synaptic transmission mediated by dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin.

10.1. Evidence for β -phenylethylamine and tyramine

Nevertheless, a number of electrophysiological studies performed *in vitro* have suggested that the actions of the trace amines are of a *direct*, post-synaptic nature. This would mean that the trace amines may be capable of functioning in a manner very similar to other conventional *fast* synaptic transmitters such as glutamate. Like the majority of the iontophoretic responses to noradrenaline and dopamine elicited from cortical or caudate neurons, the predominant response to iontophoretic administration of the trace amines is an *inhibition* of cell firing. Specifically, while iontophoretic studies have observed that β -PEA can either increase or decrease the firing rates of visual cortical cells in a manner similar to noradrenaline (Giardina et al., 1972), in other instances the effects of β -PEA on the same cells affected by noradrenaline were opposite to the effects of noradrenalin. Giardina et al. (1972) remarked that these latter observations are clearly at odds with the view that the effects of β -PEA are due to the presynaptic release of noradrenaline or by the activation of noradrenergic receptors. In fact, they suggest that in the cerebral cortex distinct β -PEA receptors may exist.

In other cases, the iontophoretic administration of β -PEA produces an inhibition of the rate of firing of cortical or caudate neurons. Other researchers have suggested that this effect is a direct, post-synaptic and receptor-mediated action (Antelman et al., 1977). Even though it appeared necessary to eject the substances with relatively large currents of administration, the iontophoretic expulsion of β -PEA, *p*-TYR and OA demonstrated that these compounds might produce *fast* inhibitory effects on both cortical and caudate neurons (Henwood et al., 1979).

Intracellular recordings demonstrated similar findings of depressions of the responses of spinal cord neurons using iontophoresis of *p*-OA, *p*-TYR, dopamine and noradrenaline (Engberg et al., 1976). In an extracellular recording study on single cerebellar Purkinje neurons investigating the effects of *p*-TYR, Hoffer et al. (1971) concurred with the earlier unit recording data, while Jones and Boulton (1980b) observed that the iontophoretic effects of β -PEA, *p*-TYR and *m*-TYR were *similar* to dopamine on cells of cortex and caudate.

10.2. Evidence for octopamine

Hicks and McLennan (1978a,b) demonstrated that whereas the effects of noradrenaline on neurons of the spinal cord and cerebral cortex were predominantly inhibitory, the effects of OA on the same neurons inhibited by noradrenaline were more *variable* in nature. They noted that some spinal and cortical neurons are excited by OA, while others were inhibited. In both spinal cord and cortex, the inhibitory effects of noradrenaline were blocked by the mixed β_1 - and β_2 -nor adrenaline receptor antagonist propranolol, whereas this antagonist had no effect on the excitatory or inhibitory responses to OA. Similarly, in the cerebral cortex, the dopamine antagonist, α -flupenthixol was ineffective in antagonizing the actions of OA. The effects of OA on spinal and cortical neurons thus appeared unlikely to be mediated by β_1 - or β_2 -noradrenaline receptors and like the opposing effects of β-PEA on visual cortical neurons (Giardina et al., 1972), the opposing effects of OA could be interpreted as evidence for the existence of differentially distributed OA receptor subtypes within the spinal cord, even though pharmacologically specific OA receptors have yet to be demonstrated in vertebrates (see Borowsky et al., 2001; Bunzow et al., 2001).

10.3. Evidence for tryptamine

In one of the earliest-performed iontophoretic studies, Curtis (1962) failed to detect an electrophysiological response to the ejection of TRP on the spontaneous firing rate of spinal cord interneurons. A consensus of later experimental investigations has determined that TRP iontophoresis has a strong *inhibitory* effect on the spontaneous firing rate of lateral geniculate (Curtis and Davis, 1962; Aghajanian and Haigler, 1975), amygdaloid and dorsal raphe neurons (Aghajanian and Haigler, 1975) and cortical neurons in the cat (Krnjevic and Phillis, 1963). However, in the above investigations, it was generally assumed that the responses to TRP were as a serotonin receptor agonist.

The investigations of Jones (1982b,c) and Jones and Boulton (1980b) further differentiated the iontophoretic actions and interactions of TRP and serotonin on single rat cortical neurons. Specifically, these authors observed that serotonin induces both excitatory and inhibitory effects on cortical neurons in nearly equal amounts, and the effects of TRP on cortical neurons are invariably *inhibitory* and more potent than those elicited by serotonin alone. Further iontophoretic studies on the interactions between TRP and serotonin demonstrated that TRP may *not* be a serotonin receptor agonist, but rather a neuromodulator of serotonin synaptic transmission. Specifically, weak (0–10 nA) iontophoretic administration of TRP at ejecting currents that do not produce an effect on baseline firing of the cortical

neuron actually *potentiate* the inhibitory effects of serotonin; similar weak applications of TRP antagonize the excitatory effects of serotonin on these neurons or in some cases actually reverse them into an inhibitory response (Jones and Boulton, 1980b).

Based on these observations Jones and Boulton (1980b) suggested that TRP is an agonist at inhibitory serotonin receptors and an antagonist at excitatory serotonin receptors. These researchers further observed that the inhibitory effects of TRP were more potent, of a rapid onset and were longer lasting than those of serotonin. An interesting observation was that 40% of the cortical neurons excited by serotonin were *inhibited* by TRP (Jones, 1982b). Thus, like the opposing post-synaptic effects of OA on single cells of the cortex and spinal cord (Hicks and McLennan, 1978a,b), these later data suggested that specific receptors mediating the activity of TRP also may exist in the cerebral cortex.

Furthermore, and most importantly, the inhibitory effects of TRP on cortical cells persists following electrolytic lesions of serotonin pathways (Jones, 1982b, 1984), suggesting the effects of TRP are truly post-synaptic and not due to the presynaptic release of serotonin. In fact, the mixed serotonin 5-HT₁/5-HT₂ antagonist metergolide blocked the inhibitory effect of TRP, but not serotonin. This last observation led Jones (1982c) to suggest that the post-synaptic activity of TRP is not as a serotonin receptor agonist, but may have post-synaptic actions independent of serotonin.

Finally, single-shock stimulation of the raphe nuclei evokes a complex biphasic response from cortical cells (Jones, 1982c). This response involves a short-latency inhibitory phase followed by a long-latency excitatory phase and in some instances, this is followed by a long-latency inhibitory phase. It appears the early inhibitory phase may be mediated by TRP, while the later excitatory phase may be mediated by serotonin. Significantly, weak iontophoretic administration of TRP reduced the long-latency excitatory phase but left the shortlatency inhibitory phase unaltered and in some instances actually *potentiated* the latter (Jones, 1982d).

Further support for TRP as a mediator of the early inhibitory response of cortical neurons to raphe stimulation comes from the use of precursor loading. Either L-tryptophan for TRP or L-5hydroxytryptophan for serotonin demonstrated the short latency inhibitory responses, and the longer latency excitation responses of cortical neurons to raphe stimulation were enhanced by Ltryptophan, while 5-hydroxytryptophan, on the other hand, enhanced the excitatory effects only (Jones and Broadbent, 1982a). Similar support for a unique TRP response comes from the follow-up studies by these authors. Intravenous administration of fluoxetine, which inhibits the reuptake of both TRP and serotonin, or zimelidine, which inhibits serotonin only, demonstrated that fluoxetine potentiated both the inhibitory and excitatory responses of cortical neurons to raphe stimulation, while zimelidine potentiated only the excitatory responses (Jones and Broadbent, 1982b). Finally, the activity of TRP can be distinguished from serotonin when various behavioral parameters are explored (Jones, 1981b). In general, these complex interactions between TRP and serotonin may be important for TRP in controlling the balance between the excitatory and inhibitory effects of serotonin on cortical neurons (Jones, 1982e).

In general, the iontophoretic ejection of p-TYR, m-TYR, p-OA and β -PEA elicits *rapid* hyperpolarizations at currents of administration comparable to, or slightly greater than, those necessary for hyperpolarizations elicited by dopamine and noradrenaline (Boakes et al., 1976; Bevan et al., 1978; Henwood et al., 1979; Jones and Boulton, 1980b). Whereas the responses to these trace amines have been described as weaker and more variable than those induced by dopamine and noradrenaline (Bevan et al., 1978; Jones and Boulton, 1980a), they are readily reversible, longer lasting, and in a few cases have been reported as occurring *independently* of any indirect presynaptic release of dopamine and noradrenaline or serotonin (Hoffer et al., 1971; Engberg et al., 1976; Jones, 1982b). In other cases, however, indirect presynaptic releasing effects or effects operating through alterations of uptake mechanisms ascribed to the large iontophoretic currents of administration of the respective trace amine may be responsible of the depressant actions (Henwood et al., 1979). In fact, indirect, presynapticreleasing effects have been offered as explanations for the depressant effects of p-TYR (Boakes et al., 1976; Bevan et al., 1978; Jones, 1983).

11. Coda

In assessment of all the data and analyses described above, the following empirical evidence may be advanced in support of independent trace amine (particularly TYR) systems in the mammalian brain:

- Striatal TRP is not derived from serotonin neurons of the raphe. Instead, either striatal TRP may be derived from dopamine terminals that arise from neurons of the SN or a unique population of TRP neurons exist that projects to the striatum.
- In the locus coeruleus a population of OA cells exists *independently* from those that synthesize noradrenaline, and this population projects to the hippocampus, midbrain, hypothalamus and cerebellum.
- An independent population of *m*-TYR cell bodies exists, situated dorsal to the SN and which projects to the striatum.
- TYR and OA may function as conventional neurotransmitters or co-transmitters within dopamine and/or noradrenaline terminals in the striatum. The polar *m*-TYR, *p*-TYR and OA may be stored in synaptic vesicles and released following a depolarizing stimulus. These trace amines may also be conceived of as potential *humoral* agents of interneuronal communication.
- β-PEA and TRP are released *rapidly* from the respective tissue preparations by *diffusion*. This can be explained on the basis of the lipophilic nature of these trace amines. Thus TRP and β-PEA are *unlikely* to function as conventional neurotransmitters or co-transmitters in dopamine and/or noradrenaline terminals in the striatum.
- A TYR binding site is associated with pre-synaptic dopamine terminals within the striatum. This may correspond to the

TAAR1 that is expressed weakly there. TAAR1 responds very strongly to TYR when expressed from heterologous cell lines.

- A TRP binding site exists within the striatum that is not expressed within dopamine terminals. A TRP binding site may also exist within the cerebral cortex.
- A distinct β -PEA binding site may exist within the cerebral cortex. This receptor may correspond to the TAAR1 expressed at high levels there. When expressed within a heterologous cell line TAAR1 is activated strongly by β -PEA.
- Considerable evidence exists for TYR, β -PEA and TRP as indirectly acting agonists within the striatum based on studies examining their actions when those substances are administered at high doses.
- At low dose iontophoretic administration these trace amines *potentiate* post-synaptic actions of dopamine, noradrenaline or serotonin. In other cases low dose iontophoretic administration of these trace amines also exert electrophysiological responses that can be in *opposition* to that of dopamine and serotonin, suggesting *specific* trace amine receptors may be mediating these effects.

The discovery of a class of GPCRs, one member of which, TAAR1, is potently activated by β -PEA and TYR in cell culture, has provided a missing piece to a puzzle that has perplexed biogenic amine researchers for decades. The eventual characterization and neuroanatomical mapping of the additional human members of this GPCR family, along with a description of the signaling mechanism(s) they evoke and their degree of intracellular "cross-talk" with additional intracellular signaling pathways, will surely change our perceptions in regard to the integrative post-synaptic roles the trace amines play in dopamine, noradrenaline and serotonin signaling in brain. Towards that end, gene knockouts of the TAAR1 or TAAR4 in mice will afford the opportunity to study the contribution of TYR and β -PEA signaling as well as the recreationally abused drugs amphetamine, MDMA and LSD in the absence of these receptors in well-established behavioral and pharmacological paradigms of psychostimulant and hallucinogenic activity in mammalian brain.

Acknowledgements

In partial fulfillment for his M.A. degree, Scott A. Burchett originally wrote an early version of this review for the Biology Department of the University of North Carolina at Greensboro. Scott A. Burchett wishes to acknowledge the generous support of a Kirschstein-NRSA Postdoctoral Fellowship during the preparation of the revision of this review.

References

- Aghajanian, G.K., Haigler, H.J., 1975. Hallucinogenic indoleamines: preferential action upon presynaptic serotonin receptors. Psychopharmcol. Comm. 1, 619–629.
- Agnati, L.F., Fuxe, F., Zoli, M., Merlo Pich, E., Benfenati, F., Zini, I., Goldstein, M., 1986a. Aspects on the information handling by the central nervous system: focus on cotransmission in the aged rat brain. In: Hokfelt, T., Fuxe,

K., Pernow, B. (Eds.), Progress In Brain Research, vol. 68. Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, pp. 291–301.

- Agnati, L.F., Fuxe, K., Zoli, M., Zini, I., Toffano, G., Ferraguti, F., 1986b. A correlational, analysis of the regional enkephalin and β-endorphin immunoreactive terminals and of opiate receptor in adult and old male rats. Evidence of the existence of two main types of communication in the central nervous system: the volume transmission and the wiring transmission. Acta Physiol. Scand. 128, 201–207.
- Altar, C.A., Wasley, A.M., Martin, L.L., 1986. Autoradiographic localization and pharmacology of unique [³H]-tryptamine binding sites in rat brain. Neuroscience 17, 263–273.
- Amann, D., Avidan, N., Kanyas, K., Kohn, Y., Hamdan, A., Ben-Asher, E., Macciardi, F., Beckmann, J.S., Lancet, D., Lerer, B., 2006. The trace amine receptor 4 gene is not associated with schizophrenia in a sample linked to chromosome 6q23. Mol. Psychiatry 11, 119–121.
- Angrist, B., Sathananthan, G., Wilk, S., Gershon, S., 1974. Amphetamine psychosis: behavioral and biochemical aspects. J. Psychiatr. Res. 11, 13–23.
- Antelman, S.M., Edwards, D.J., Lin, M., 1977. Phenylethylamine: evidence for a direct, postsynaptic dopamine-receptor stimulating action. Brain Res. 127, 317–322.
- Arai, Y., Tadano, T., Yonezawa, A., Fujita, T., Kinemuchi, H., Kisara, K., 1995. Activation of brain 5-HT neurons by two α-methylated tryptamine derivatives. Prog. Brain Res. 106, 269–275.
- Attwell, D., Barbour, B., Szatkowski, M., 1993. Nonvesicular release of neurotransmitter. Neuron 11, 401–407.
- Axelrod, J., Saavedra, J.M., 1977. Octopamine. Nature 265, 501-504.
- Bailey, B.A., Philips, S.R., Boulton, A.A., 1987. *In vivo* release of endogenous dopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine and some of their metabolites from rat caudate nucleus by phenylethylamine. Neurochem. Res. 12, 173–178.
- Baldessarini, R.J., 1971a. Compounds antagonistic to norepinephrine retention by rat brain homogenates. Biochem. Pharmacol. 20, 1769–1780.
- Baldessarini, R.J., 1971b. Release of Aromatic amines from brain tissues of the rat *in vitro*. J. Neurochem. 18, 2509–2518.
- Baldessarini, R.J., Fisher, J.E., 1978. Trace amines and alternative neurotransmitters in the central nervous system. Biochem. Pharmacol. 27, 621–626.
- Baldessarini, R.J., Karobath, M., 1973. Biochemical physiology of central synapses. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 35, 273–304.
- Baldessarini, R.J., Vogt, M., 1971. The uptake and subcellular distribution of aromatic amines in the brain of the rat. J. Neurochem. 18, 2519–2533.
- Baldessarini, R.J., Vogt, M., 1972. Regional release of aromatic amines from tissues in the rat brain *in vitro*. J. Neurochem. 19, 755–761.
- Barchas, J.D., Akil, H., Elliot, G.R., Holman, R.B., Watson, S.J., 1978. Behavioral neurochemistry: neuroregulators and behavioral states. Science 200, 964–973.
- Barker, S.A., Monti, J.A., Christian, S.T., 1981. N,N-dimethyltryptamine: an endogenous hallucinogen. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 22, 83–110.
- Barroso, N., Rodriguez, M., 1996. Action of β-phenylethylamine and related amines on nigrostriatal dopamine neurotransmission. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 297, 195–203.
- Beckmann, H., Waldmeier, P., Lauber, J., Gattaz, W.F., 1983. Phenylethylamine and monoamine metabolites in CSF of schizophrenics: effects of neuroleptic treatment. J. Neural. Transm. 57, 103–110.
- Bearden, L.J., Burrow, L., Christian, S.T., 1977. High affinity binding sites for N,N-dimethyltryptamine on purified rat brain synaptosomal membranes. Abstr. Soc. Neurosci. 4, 1321.
- Beaudet, A., Descarries, L., 1978. The monoamine innervation of rat cerebral cortex: synaptic and non-synaptic axon terminals. Neuroscience 3, 851–860.
- Berretta, N., Giustizieri, M., Bernardi, G., Mercuri, N.B., 2005. Trace amines reduce GABA_B receptor-mediated presynaptic inhibition at GABAergic synapses of the rat substantia nigra pars compacta. Brain Res. 1062, 175– 178.
- Berry, M.D., 2004. Mammalian central nervous system trace amines. Pharmacolgic amphetamines, physiologic modulators. J. Neurochem. 90, 257–271.
- Berry, M.D., Juorio, A.V., Li, X.-M., Boulton, A.A., 1996. Aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase: a neglected and misunderstood enzyme. Neurochem. Res. 9, 1075–1087.
- Bertler, A., 1961. Effect of reservine on the storage of catecholamines in brain and other tissues. Acta Physiol. Scand. 51, 75–83.

- Bevan, P., Bradshaw, C.M., Pun, R.Y.K., Slater, T.N., Szabadi, E., 1978. Comparison of the responses of single cortical neurons to tyramine and noradrenaline: effects of designamine. Br. J. Pharmacol. 63, 651–657.
- Bly, M., 2005. Examination of the trace amine-associated 2 receptor (TAAR2). Schizo. Res. 80, 367–368.
- Boakes, R.T., Dua, P.R., Baker, G.B., 1976. Actions of microiontophoretically applied *p*-and *m*-tyramine on caudate neurons. Abs. Eur. Soc. Neurochem. 59c.
- Boulton, A.A., 1976a. Identification, distribution, metabolism and function of *m*- and *p*-tyramine, phenylethylamine and tryptamine in brain. Adv. Biochem. Psychopharmacol. 15, 57–67.
- Boulton, A.A., 1976b. Cerebral aryl alkyl aminergic mechanisms. In: Usdin, E., Sandler, M. (Eds.), Trace Amines and the Brain. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 22–39.
- Boulton, A.A., 1979. The trace amines: Neurohumors (cytosolic, pre- and/or postsynaptic, synaptic secondary, indirect). Behav. Brain Sci. 7, 418–422.
- Boulton, A.A., 1980. Trace amines and mental disorders. Can. J. Neurol. Sci. 7, 261–263.
- Boulton, A.A., 1984. Trace amines and the neurosciences: an overview. In: Boulton, A.A., Baker, G.B., Dewhurst, W.G., Sandler, M. (Eds.), Neurobiology of the Trace Amines: Analytical, Physiological, Pharmacological, Behavioral, and Clinical Aspects. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 13–24.
- Boulton, A.A., Baker, G.B., 1975. The subcellular distribution of β-phenylethylamine, *p*-tyramine and tryptamine in rat brain. J. Neurochem. 25, 477– 481.
- Boulton, A.A., Juorio, A.V., 1982. Brain trace amines. In: Lajtha, A. (Ed.), Handbook of Neurochemistry, vol. 1. Chemical and Cellular Architecture. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 189–222.
- Boulton, A.A., Wu, P.H., 1973. Biosynthesis of cerebral phenolic amines. II. In vivo regional formation of *p*-tyramine and octopamine from tyrosine and dopamine. Can. J. Biochem. 51, 428–435.
- Boulton, A.A., Juorio, A.V., Phillips, S.R., Wu, P.H., 1975. Tyraminergic mechanisms in the rat striatum. Br. J. Pharmacol. 55, 296–297.
- Boulton, A.A., Juorio, A.V., Phillips, S.R., Wu, P.H., 1977. Effects of reserpine and 6-hydroxydopamine and the levels of some arylalkylamines in rat brain. Br. J. Pharmacol. 59, 209–214.
- Borowsky, B., Adham, N., Jones, K.A., Raddatz, R., Artymyshyn, R., Ogozalek, K.L., Durkin, M.M., Lakhlani, P.P., Bonini, J.A., Pathirana, S., Boyle, N., Pu, X., Kouranova, E., Lichtblau, H., Ochoa, F.Y., Branchek, T.A., Gerald, C., 2001. Trace amines: identification of a family of mammalian G proteincoupled receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 8966–8971.
- Bowsher, R.R., Henry, D.P., 1983. Decarboxylation of p-tyrosine: a potential source of p-tyramine in mammalian tissues. J. Neurochem. 40, 992–1002.
- Branchek, T.A., Blackburn, T.P., 2003. Trace amine receptors as targets for novel therapeutics: legend, myth and fact. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 3, 90–97.
- Brinton, R.E., 1990. Neuromodulation: associative and non-linear adaptation. Brain Res. Bull. 24, 651–658.
- Brinton, R.E., McEwen, B.S., 1989. Vasopressin neuromodulation in the hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 9, 752–759.
- Buckland, P.R., O'Donovan, M.C., McGuffin, P., 1992. Changes in dopa decarboxylase mRNA but not tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA levels in rat brain following antipsychotic treatment. Psychopharmacology 10898– 109102.
- Buckland, P.R., Marshall, R., Watkins, P., mMcGuffin, P., 1997. Does phenylethylamine have a role in schizophrenia?: LSD and PCP up-regulate aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase mRNA levels. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 49, 266–270.
- Burchett, S.A., 1994. Immuno-histochemical localization of trace amines in rat brain. M.A. Thesis. University of North Carolina at Greensboro, Greensboro, North Carolina.
- Bunzow, J.R., Sonders, M.S., Arttamangkul, S., Harrison, L.M., Zhang, G., Quigley, D.I., Darland, T., Suchland, K.L., Pasumamula, S., Kennedy, J.L., Olson, S.B., Magenis, R.E., Amara, S.G., Grandy, D.K., 2001. Amphetamine, 3,4 methylenedioxymethamphetamine, lysergic acid diethylamide, and metabolites of the catecholamine neurotransmitters are agonists of a rat trace amine receptor. Mol. Pharmacol. 60, 1181–1188.

- Burnstock, G., 1976. Do some cells release more than one transmitter? Neuroscience 1, 239–248.
- Cao, Q., Martinez, M., Zhang, J., Sanders, A.R., Badner, J.A., Cravchik, A., Markey, C.J., Beshaw, E., Guroff, J.J., Maxwell, M.E., Kazuba, D.M., Whiten, R., Goldin, L.R., Gershon, E.S., Gejman, P.V., 1997. Suggestive evidence for a schizophrenia susceptibility locus on chromosome 6q and a confirmation in an independent series of pedigrees. Genomics 43, 1–8.
- Carlsson, A., Hillarp, N.A., Waldeck, B., 1963. Analysis of the Mg²⁺-ATPdependent storage mechanism in the amine granules of the adrenal medulla. Acta Physiol. Scand. Suppl. 215, 1–38.
- Casio, C.S., Kellar, K.J., 1986. Effects of pargyline, reserpine and neurotoxin lesions on [³H]-tryptamine binding sites in rat brain. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 120, 101–105.
- Cheng, J.-T., Shen, L.C., Jou, T.-C., 1990. Inhibitory effect of octopamine on dopamine D₁ receptor in striatal homogenates in the rat. Neurosci. Res. 9, 202–207.
- Cichon, S., Schumacher, J., Müller, D.J., Hürter, M., Windemuth, C., Strauch, K., Hemmer, S., Schulze, T.G., Schmidt-Wolf, G., Albus, M., Borrmann-Hassenbach, M., Franzek, E., Lanczik, M., Fritze, J., Kreiner, R., Reuner, U., Weigelt, B., Minges, J., Lichtermann, J., Lerer, B., Kanyas, K., Baur, M., Wienker, T.F., Mairer, W., Rietschel, M., Propping, P., Nöthen, M.M., 2001. A genome screen for genes predisposing to bipolar affective disorder detects a new susceptibility locus on 8q. Hum. Mol. Genet. 10, 2933–2944.
- Cikos, S., Gregor, P., Koppel, J., 2001. Cloning of a novel biogenic amine receptor-like G protein-coupled receptor expressed in human brain. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1521, 66–72.
- Ciprian-Ollivier, J., Cetkovich-Bakmas, M.G., 1997. Altered consciousness states and endogenous psychosis: a common molecular pathway. Schizo. Res. 28, 257–265.
- Connell, P.H., 1958. Amphetamine Psychosis, vol. 5. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Curtis, D.R., 1962. Action of 3-hydroxytryptamine and tryptamine derivatives on spinal neurons. Nature 194, 292–295.
- Curtis, D.R., Davis, R., 1962. Pharmacological studies upon isolated neurons of the lateral geniculate nucleus of the cat. Br. J. Pharmacol. 18, 217–246.
- Dabadie, H., Mons, N., Geffard, M., 1990. Simultaneous detection of tryptamine and dopamine in rat substantia nigra and raphe nuclei using specific antibodies. Brain Res. 512, 138–142.
- Dabadie, H., Geffard, M., 1993. Identification of tryptamine and tryptamineserotonin neurons in the rat dorsal raphe nuclei using specific antibodies. Synapse 14, 178–183.
- Davis, B.A., Boulton, A.A., 1994. The trace amines and their acidic metabolites in depression—an overview. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 18, 17–45.
- DeLisi, L.E., Murphy, D.L., Karoum, F., Mueller, E., Targum, S., Wyatt, S., 1984. Phenylethylamine excretion in depression. Psychiatry Res. 13, 193– 201.
- Descarries, L., Beaudet, A., Watkins, K.C., 1975. Serotonin nerve terminals in adult rat neocortex. Brain Res. 100, 563–588.
- Descarries, L., Watkins, K.C., Lapierre, Y., 1977. Noradrenergic axon terminals in the cerebral cortex of the rat. III. Topomeric structural analysis. Brain Res. 133, 197–222.
- Dewhurst, W.G., 1968. Methysergide in mania. Nature 219, 506-507.
- Dick, D.M., Foroud, T., Flury, L., Bowman, E.S., Miller, M.J., Rau, N.L., Moe, P.R., Samavedy, N., El-Mallakh, R., Manji, H., Glitz, D.A., Meyer, E.T., Smiley, C., Hahn, R., Widmark, C., McKinney, R., Sutton, L., Ballas, C., Grice, D., Berrettini, W., Byerley, W., Coryell, W., DePaulo, R., MacK-innon, D.F., Gershon, E.S., Kelsoe, J.R., McMahon, F.J., McInnis, M., Murphy, D.L., Reich, T., Scheftner, W., Nurnberger, J.I., 2003. Genome-wide linkage analyses of bipolar disorder: a new sample of 250 pedigrees from the National Institute of Mental Health Genetics Initiative. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 73, 107–114.
- Dismukes, R.K., 1979. New concepts of molecular communication among neurons. Behav. Brain Sci. 2, 409–448.
- Dourish, C.T., 1985. Local application of β -phenylethylamine to the caudate nucleus of the rat elicits locomotor stimulation. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 22, 159–162.

- Dourish, C.T., Boulton, A.A., 1981. The effects of acute and chronic administration of β-phenylethylamine on food intake and body weight in rats. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. 5, 411–414.
- Duan, J., Martinez, M., Sanders, A.R., Hou, G., Saitou, N., Kitano, T., Mowry, B.J., Crowe, R.R., Silverman, J.M., Levinson, D.F., Gejman, P.V., 2004. Polymorphisms in the trace amine receptor 4 (TRAR4) gene on chromosome 6q23.2 are associated with susceptibility to schizophrenia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 75, 624–638.
- Duan, S., Du, J., Xu, Y., Xing, Q., Wang, H., Wu, S., Chen, Q., Li, X., Shen, J., Feng, G., He, L., 2005. Failure to find association between TRAR4 and schizophrenia in the Chinese Han population. J. Neural. Transm. 113, 381– 385.
- Durden, D.A., Davis, B.A., 1993. Determination of regional distributions of phenylethylamine and meta- and para-tyramine in rat brain regions and presence in human and dog plasma by an ultra-sensitive negative chemical ion gas chromatography-mass spectrometric (NCI-GC-MS) method. Neurochem. Res. 18, 995–1002.
- Durden, D.A., Phillips, S.R., 1980. Kinetic measurements of the turnover rates of phenylethylamine and tryptamine *in vivo* in the rat brain. J. Neurochem. 34, 1725–1732.
- Durden, D.A., Nguyen, T.-V., Boulton, A.A., 1988. Kinetics of intraventricularly injected trace amines and their deuterated isotopomers. Neurochem. Res. 13, 943–950.
- Dyck, L.E., Juorio, A.V., Boulton, A.A., 1982. The *in vitro* release of endogenous *m*-tyramine, *p*-tyramine and dopamine from the rat striatum. Neurochem. Res. 7, 705–716.
- Dyck, L.E., 1983. Release of monoamines from striatal slices by phenelzine and β -phenylethylamine. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 7, 797–800.
- Dyck, L.E., 1984. Neuronal transport of trace amines: an overview. In: Boulton, A.A., Baker, G.B., Dewhurst, W.G., Sandler, M. (Eds.), Neurobiology of the Trace Amines: Analytical, Physiological, Pharmacological, Behavioral, and Clinical Aspects. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 185–204.
- Dyck, L.E., 1989. Release of some endogenous trace amines from rat striatal slices in the presence and absence of a monoamine oxidase inhibitor. Life Sci. 44, 1149–1156.
- Eaton, M.J., Gudehithlu, K.P., Quach, T., Silvia, C.P., Hadjiconstantinou, M., Neff, N.H., 1993. Distribution of aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase mRNA in mouse brain by *in situ* hybridization histology. J. Comp. Neurol. 337, 640–654.
- Engberg, I., Flatman, J.A., Kadzielawa, K., 1976. Lack of specificity of motoneuron responses to microiontophoretically applied phenolic amines. Acta Physiol. Scand. 96, 137–139.
- Evans, P.D., 1981. Multiple receptor types for octopamine in the locust. J. Physiol. 318, 99–122.
- Evans, P.D., 1984a. Studies on the mode of action of octopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine and proctolin on a myogenic rhythm in the locust. J. Exp. Biol. 110, 231–251.
- Evans, P.D., 1984b. A modulatory octopaminergic neuron increases cyclic nucleotide levels in locust skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 348, 307–324.
- Evans, P.D., 1984c. The role of cyclic nucleotides and calcium in the mediation of the modulatory effects of octopamine on locust skeletal muscle. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 348, 325–340.
- Ewald, H., Flint, T., Kruse, T.A., Mors, O., 2002. A genome-wide scan shows significant linkage between bipolar disorder and chromosome 12q24.3 and suggestive linkage to chromosomes 1p22-21, 4p16, 6q14-22, 10q26 and 16p13.3. Mol. Psych. 7, 734–744.
- Federici, M., Geracitano, R., Tozzi, A., Longone, P., Di Angelantonio, S., Bengtson, P.C., Bernardi, G., Mercuri, N.B., 2005. Trace amines depress GABA_B responses in dopaminergic neurons by inhibiting G-βγ-gated inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Mol. Pharmacol. 67, 1283–1290.
- Fischer, J.E., Baldessarini, R.J., 1971. False neurotransmitters and hepatic failure. Lancet 2, 75–80.
- Fogel, W.A., Andrzejewski, W., Maslinski, C., 1990. Neurotransmitters in hepatic encephalopathy. Acta Exp. Neurobiol. 50, 281–294.
- Franzen, F., Gross, H., 1965. Tryptamine, N,N-dimethyltryptamine, N,Ndimethyl-5-hydroxytryptamine and 5-methoxytryptamine in human blood and urine. Nature 206, 1052–1055.

- Fuxe, K., Agnati, L.F., 1991. Two principal modes of electrochemical communication in the brain: volume versus wiring transmission. In: Volume Transmission in the Brain: Novel Mechanisms for Neural Transmission, Raven Press, New York, pp. 1–9.
- Fuxe, K., Agnati, L.F., Zoli, M., Bjelke, B., Zini, I., 1989. Some aspects of the communication and computational organization of the brain. Acta Physiol. Scand. 135, 203–216.
- Galitzky, J., Carpene, C., Lafontan, M., Berlan, M., 1993. Specific stimulation of adipose tissue adrenergic β_3 receptors by octopamine. C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. III 316, 519–523.
- Gardner, J.D., Jensen, R.T., 1981. Regulation of pancreatic exocrine secretion in vitro: the action of secretagogues. Philo. Trans. B 196, 17–26.
- Geffard, M., Tuffet, S., Mons, N., Chagnaud, J.L., 1987. Simultaneous detection of indoleamines and dopamine in rat dorsal nuclei using specific antibodies. Histochemistry 88, 61–64.
- Geracitano, R., Federici, M., Prisco, S., Bernardi, G., Mercuri, N.B., 2004. Inhibitory effects of trace amines on rat midbrain dopaminergic neurons. Neuropsychopharmacology 46, 807–814.
- Giardina, W.J., Pedemonte, W.A., Sabelli, H.C., 1972. Iontophoretic study of the effects of norepinephrine and 2-phenylethylamine on single cortical neurons. Life Sci. 12, 153–161.
- Graham, D., Langer, S.Z., 1987. [³H]-tryptamine binding sites of rat cerebral cortex: pharmacological profile and plasticity. Neuropharmacology 26, 1093–1097.
- Granneman, J.G., Lahners, K.M., Chaudhry, A., 1991. Molecular cloning and expression of the rat β₃-adrenergic receptor. Mol. Pharmacol. 40, 895–899.
- Greengard, P., 2001. The neurobiology of slow synaptic transmission. Science 294, 1024–1030.
- Greenshaw, A.J., Juorio, A.V., Nguyen, T.V., 1986. Depletion of striatal βphenylethylamine following dopamine, but not 5-HT denervation. Brain Res. Bull. 17, 477–484.
- Guillen, A., Haro, A., Municio, A.M., 1989. A possible new class of octopamine receptors coupled to adenylate cyclase in the brain of the dipterous *Ceratitis capitata*. Pharmacological characterization and regulation of [³H]-octopamine binding. Life Sci. 45, 655–662.
- Hammer, M., Menzel, R., 1998. Multiple sites of associative odor learing as revealed by local brain microinjections of octopamine in honeybees. Learn. Mem. 5, 146–156.
- Hartzel, H.C., 1981. Mechanisms of slow postsynaptic potentials. Nature 291, 539–544.
- Hauger, R.L., Skolnick, P., Paul, S.M., 1982. Specific [³H]-β-phenylethylamine binding sites in rat brain. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 83, 147–148.
- Henry, D.P., Russell, W.L., Clemens, J.A., Plebus, L.A., 1988. Phenylethylamine and *p*-tyramine in the extracellular space of the rat brain: quantification using a new radioenzymatic assay and in situ microdialysis. In: Boulton, A.A., Juorio, A.V., Downer, R.G.H. (Eds.), Trace Amines: Comparative and Clinical Neurobiology. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 239–250.
- Henwood, R.W., Boulton, A.A., Phillis, J.W., 1979. Iontophoretic studies of some trace amines in the mammalian CNS. Brain Res. 164, 347–351.
- Hepler, J.R., Gilman, A.G., 1992. G proteins. TiBS 17, 383-387.
- Herkenham, M., 1987. Mismatches between neurotransmitter and receptor localizations in brain: observations and implications. Neuroscience 23, 1–38.
- Herkenham, M., 1991. Mismatches between neurotransmitter and receptor localizations: implications for endocrine functions in brain. In: Fuxe, K., Agnati, F. (Eds.), Volume Transmission in the Brain: Novel Mechanisms for Neural Transmission. Raven Press, New York, pp. 63–87.
- Herkenham, M., McLean, S., 1986. Mismatches between receptor and transmitter localizations in the brain. In: Boast, C.A., Snowhill, E.W., Altar, C.A. (Eds.), Quantitative Receptor Autoradiography. Alan Liss, New York, pp. 131–171.
- Hicks, T.P., 1977. The possible role of octopamine as a synaptic transmitter. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 55, 137–152.
- Hicks, T.P., McLennan, H., 1978a. Comparison of the actions of octopamine and catecholamines on single neurons of the rat cerebral cortex. Br. J. Pharmacol. 64, 485–491.

- Hicks, T.P., McLennan, H., 1978b. Actions of octopamine upon neurons of the spinal cord. Brain Res. 157, 402–406.
- Hicks, T.P., Locock, R.A., Jason, G.W., 1987. Is octopamine a "false transmitter"? Regional distribution and serial changes in octopamine and noradrenaline following locus coeruleus lesions. Brain Res. 421, 315–324.
- Hoffer, B.J., Siggins, G.R., Bloom, F.E., 1971. Studies on the norepinephrinecontaining afferents to Purkinje cells to rat cerebellum. II. Sensitivity of Purkinje cells to norepinephrine and related substances administered by microiontophoresis. Brain Res. 25, 523–524.
- Ikeda, M., Iwata, N., Suzuki, T., Kitajima, T., Yamanouchi, Y., Kinoshita, Y., Inada, T., Ozaki, N., 2005. No association of haplotype-tagging SNPs in TRAR4 with schizophrenia in Japanese patients. Schizophr. Res. 15, 127– 130.
- Ikemoto, K., 2002. Human striatal D-neurons and their significance. Jpn. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 22, 131–135.
- Ikemoto, K., 2004. Significance of human striatal D-neurons: implications in neuropsychiatric functions. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 28, 429–434.
- Ikemoto, K., Nishimura, A., Oda, T., Nagatsu, I., Nishi, K.K., 2003. Number of striatal D-neurons is reduced in autopsy brains of schizophrenics. Leg. Med. (Tokyo) 5 (Suppl. 1), S221–S224.
- Ishida, K., Murata, M., Kato, M., Utsunomiya, I., Hoshi, K., Taguchi, K., 2005a. β-Phenylethylamine stimulates striatal acetylcholine release through activation of the AMPA glutamatergic pathway. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 28, 1626– 1629.
- Ishida, K., Murata, M., Nobuyuki, K., Ishikawa, M., Abe, K., Kato, M., Utsunomiya, I., Taguchi, K., 2005b. Effects of β-phenylethylamine on dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area in the rat: a combined electrophysiological and microdialysis study. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 314, 916–922.
- Iversen, L.L., 1984. The Ferrier Lecture, 1983. Amino acids and peptides: fast and slow chemical signals in the nervous system? Proc. R. Soc. Brit. 221, 245–260.
- Jacob, M.S., Presti, D.E., 2005. Endogenous psychoactive tryptamines reconsidered: an anxiolytic role for dimethyltryptamine. Med. Hypoth. 64, 930– 937.
- Jaeger, C.B., Ruggiero, D.A., Albert, V.R., Joh, T.H., Reis, D.J., 1984. Immunocytochemical localization of aromatic-L-amino acid decarboxylase. In: Björklund, A., Hökfelt, T. (Eds.), Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy: Classical Transmitters in the CNS, Part 1, vol. 2. Elsevier, New York, pp. 387–408.
- Jamra, R.A., Sircar, I., Becker, T., Freudenberg-Hua, Y., Ohlraun, S., Freudenberg, J., Brockschmidt, F., Schulze, T.G., Gross, M., Spira, F., Deschner, M., Cichon, S., Nöthen, M.M., Schumacher, J., 2005. A family-based and case-control association study of trace amine receptor genes on chromosome 6q23 in bipolar affective disorder. Mol. Psych. 10, 618–620.
- Janssen, P.A., Leysen, J.E., Megens, A.A., Awouters, F.H., 1999. Does phenylethylamine act as an endogenous amphetamine in some patients. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 2, 229–240.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1981a. Specific enhancement of the responses to catecholamines by *p*-tyramine. J. Neurosci. Res. 6, 49–61.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1981b. In vivo pharmacological studies on the interactions between tryptamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine. Br. J. Pharmacol. 73, 485–493.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1982a. Noradrenaline-octopamine interactions on cortical neurons in the rat. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 77, 159–162.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1982b. A comparison of the responses of cortical neurons to iontophoretically applied tryptamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine in the rat. Neuropharmacology 21, 209–214.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1982c. Responses of cortical neurons to stimulation of the nucleus raphe medianus: a pharmacological analysis of the role of indolearnines. Neuropharmacology 21, 511–520.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1982d. Tryptamine modifies cortical neuron responses evoked by stimulation of nucleus raphe medianus. Brain Res. Bull. 8, 435–437.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1982e. Tryptamine: a neuromodulator or neurotransmitter in mammalian brain. Prog. Neurobiol. 19, 117–139.
- Jones, R.S.G., 1983. Trace amines: a possible functional role in the CNS. TiPS 4, 426–429.

- Jones, R.S.G., 1984. Electrophysiological studies of the possible role of the trace amines in synaptic function. In: Boulton, A.A., Baker, G.B., Dewhurst, W.G., Sandler, M. (Eds.), Neurobiology of the Trace Amines: Analytical, Physiological, Pharmacological, Behavioral, and Clinical Aspects. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 205–223.
- Jones, R.S.G., Boulton, A.A., 1980a. Interactions between *p*-tyramine, *m*-tyramine or β-phenylethylamine and dopamine on single neurons in the cortex and caudate nucleus of the cat. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 58, 222–227.
- Jones, R.S.G., Broadbent, J., 1982a. Further studies on the role of indoleamines in the responses of cortical neurones to stimulation of nucleus raphe medianus: effects of indoleamine precursor loading. Neuropharmacology 21, 1273–1277.
- Jones, R.S.G., Broadbent, J., 1982b. Differential effects of fluoxetine and zimelidine on the uptake of 5-hydroxytryptamine and tryptamine by cortical slices and on responses of cortical neurones to stimulation of the nucleus raphe medianus. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 81, 681–685.
- Jones, R.S.G., Boulton, A.A., 1980b. Tryptamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine's actions and interactions on cortical neurons in the rat. Life Sci. 27, 1849– 1856.
- Juorio, A.V., 1982. The in vitro release of endogenous *m*-tyramine, *p*-tyramine and dopamine from rat striatum. Neurochem. Res. 7, 705–716.
- Juorio, A.V., 1988a. Brain trace amines: mapping studies and effects of mesencephalic lesions. In: Boulton, A.A., Juorio, A.V., Downer, R.G.H. (Eds.), Trace Amines: Comparative and Clinical Neurobiology. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 157–174.
- Juorio, A.V., 1988b. Brain β-phenylethylamine: localization, pathways, and interaction with catecholamines. In: Sandler, M., Dahlström, A., Belmaker, R.H. (Eds.), Progress in Catecholamine Research: Central Aspects. Neurology and Neurobiology, vol. 42B. Alan R. Liss, New York, pp. 433–437.
- Juorio, A.V., Greenshaw, A.J., 1985. Tryptamine concentrations in areas of 5hydroxytryptamine terminal innervation after electrolytic lesions of midbrain raphe nuclei. J. Neurochem. 45, 422–426.
- Juorio, A.V., Paterson, I.A., 1990. Tryptamine may couple dopaminergic and serotonergic transmission in the brain. Gen. Pharmacol. 21, 613–616.
- Juorio, A.V., Greenshaw, A.J., 1986. Tryptamine depletion in the rat striatum following electrolytic lesions of the substantia nigra. Brain Res. 371, 386– 389.
- Juorio, A.V., Jones, R.S.G., 1981. The effect of mesencephalic lesions on tyramine and dopamine in the caudate nucleus of the rat. J. Neurochem. 36, 1898–1903.
- Juorio, A.V., Greenshaw, A.J., Nguyen, T.V., 1987. Effect of intranigral administration of 6-hydroxydopamine and 5,7-dihydroxytryptamine on rat brain tryptamine. J. Neurochem. 48, 1346–1350.
- Juorio, A.V., Paterson, I.A., Zhu, M.Y., Matte, G., 1991. Electrical stimulation of the substantia nigra and changes of 2-phenylethylamine synthesis in the rat striatum. J. Neurochem. 56, 213–220.
- Kaczmarek, L.K., Levitan, I.B., 1987. Neuromodulation: The Biochemical Control of Neuronal Excitability. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Karkkainen, J., Forsstrom, T., Tornaeuu, J., Wahala, K., Kiuru, P., Honkanen, A., Stenman, U.H., Turpeinen, U., Hesso, A., 2005. Potentially hallucinogenic 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor ligands bufotenine and dimethyltryptamine in blood and tissues. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 65, 189–199.
- Kato, M., Ishida, K., Chuma, T., Abe, K., Shigenaga, T., Taguchi, K., Miyatake, T., 2001. Beta-phenylethylamine modulates acetylcholine release in the rat striatum: involvement of a dopamine D(2) receptor mechanism. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 418, 65–71.
- Katz, B., 1971. Quantal mechanisms of neural transmitter release. Science 173, 123–126.
- Kellar, K.J., Casio, C.S., 1982. [³H]-tryptamine: high affinity binding sites in rat brain. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 78, 475–478.
- Kim, K.-A., Von Zastrow, M., 2001. Old drugs learn new tricks: insights from mammalian trace amine receptors. Mol. Pharmacol. 60, 1165–1167.
- Kinemuchi, H., Arai, Y., Toyoshima, Y., Tadano, T., Kisara, K., 1988. Studies of 5-fluoro-α-methyltryptamine and *p*-chloro-β-methylphenylamine: Determination of the MAO-A or MAO-B selective inhibition *in vitro*. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 46, 197–199.
- Kitahama, K., Araneda, S., Geffard, M., Sei, H., Okamura, H., 2005. Tyramineimmunoreactive neuronal structures in the brat brain: abundance in the

median eminence of the mediobasal hypothalamus. Neurosci. Lett. 383, 215-219.

- Klemm, N., Axelsson, S., 1973. Detection of dopamine, noradrenaline and 5-hydroxy-tryptamine in the cerebral ganglion of the desert locust, *Schistocerca gregaria Forsk* (Insecta: Orthoptera). Brain Res. 57, 289–298.
- Knoll, J., Miklya, I., Knoll, B., Marko, R., Racz, D., 1996. Phenylethylamine and tyramine are mixed-acting sympathomimetic amines in the brain. Life Sci. 58, 2101–2114.
- Knott, P.J., Marsden, C.A., Curzon, G., 1974. Comparative studies of brain 5hydroxytryptamine and tryptamine. Adv. Biochem. Psychopharmacol. 11, 109–114.
- Kopin, I.J., 1968. False adrenergic transmitters. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. 8, 377– 394.
- Krnjevic, K., Phillis, J.W., 1963. Actions of certain amines on cerebral cortical neurons. Br. J. Pharmacol. 20, 471–490.
- Kravitz, E.A., 1988. Hormonal control of behavior: amines and the biasing of behavioral output of lobsters. Science 241, 1775–1781.
- Kusaga, A., Yamashita, Y., Koeda, T., Hiratani, M.C., Kaneko, M., Yamada, S., Matsuishi, T., 2002. Increased urine phenylethylamine after methylphenidate treatment in children with ADHD. Ann. Neurol. 52, 372–374.
- Laduron, P.M., 1988. Stereospecificity in binding studies. A useful criterion though insufficient to prove the presence of receptors. Biochem. Pharmacol. 37, 37–40.
- Lapin, I.P., Ovxenkrug, G.F., 1969. Intensification of the central serotoninergic processes as a possible determinant of the thymoleptic effect. Lancet 1, 132–136.
- Larson, A.A., Dalo, N.L., 1986. Quantification of tryptamine in brain using high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr. 375, 37–47.
- Laruelle, M., Kegeles, L.S., Abi-Dargham, A., 2003. Glutamate, dopamine, and schizophrenia: from pathophysiology to treatment. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1003, 138–158.
- Laruelle, M., Frankle, W.G., Narendran, R., Kegeles, L.S., Abi-Dargham, A., 2005. Mechanism of action of antipsychotic drugs: from dopamine D (2) receptor antagonism to glutamate NMDA facilitation. Clin. Ther. 27 (Suppl. A), S16–S24.
- Levitt, P., Pintar, J.E., Breakfield, X.O., 1982. Immunocytochemical demonstration of monoamine oxidase B in brain astrocytes and serotonergic neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79, 6385–6389.
- Lewin, A.H., 2006. Receptors of mammalian trace amines. AAPS J. 10, E138– E145.
- Li, X.-M., Juorio, A.V., Paterson, A., Boulton, A.A., 1992a. Absence of 2phenylethylamine binding after monoamine oxidase inhibition in rat brain. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 210, 189–193.
- Li, X.M., Juorio, A.V., Paterson, I.A., Walz, W., Zhu, M.Y., Boulton, A.A., 1992b. Gene expression of aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase in cultured rat glial cells. J. Neurochem. 59, 1172–1175.
- Lindemann, L., Hoener, M.C., 2005. A renaissance in trace amines inspired by a novel GPCR family. TiPS 25, 274–281.
- Lindemann, L., Ebeling, M., Kratochwil, N.A., Bunzow, J.R., Grandy, D.K., Hoener, M.C., 2005. Trace amine-associated receptors form structurally and functionally distinct subfamilies of novel G protein-coupled receptors. Genomics 85, 372–385.
- Locock, R.A., Baker, G.B., Coutts, R.T., Dewhurst, W.G., 1984. Displacement of serotonin from binding sites in rat cortex: the effects of biogenic trace amines. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol Biol. Psychiatry 8, 701–704.
- Lovenberg, W., Weissbach, H., Udenfriend, S., 1962. Aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase. J. Biol. Chem. 237, 89–93.
- Lowell, R., 1999. Life Studies and for the Union Dead. Farrar, Straus and Giroux, New York.
- Mandell, A.J., Morgan, M., 1971. Indole (ethyl)amine N-methyltransferase in human brain. Nature 230, 85–87.
- Maqueria, B., Chatwin, H., Evans, P.D., 2005. Identification and characterization of a novel family of *Drosophila* β-adrenergic-like octopamine Gprotein coupled receptors. J. Neurochem. 94, 547–560.
- Marek, G.J., Aghajanian, G.K., 1998. Indolamine and the phenylethylamine hallucinogens: mechanisms of psychotomimetic action. Drug Alcohol Depend. 51, 189–198.

- Marsden, C.A., Curzon, G., 1974. Effects of lesions and drugs on brain tryptamine. J. Neurochem. 23, 11271–21176.
- Matthaei, H., Lentzen, H., Philippu, A., 1976. Competition of some biogenic amines for uptake into synaptic vesicals of the striatum. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol. 293, 89–96.
- McCormick, D.A., 1990. Membrane properties and neurotransmitter actions. In: Shepherd, G.S. (Ed.), The Synaptic Organization of the Brain. 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, New York.
- McGeer, P.Z., Eccles, J.C., McGeer, E.G., 1978. Molecular Neurobiology of the Mammalian Brain. Plenum Press, New York.
- Mesfioui, A., Math, F., Jmari, K., Hessni, A., Choulli, M.K., Davrainville, J.-L., 1998. Effects of amphetamine and phenylethylamine on catecholamine release in the glomerular layer of the rat olfactory bulb. Biol. Signals Recept 7, 235–243.
- Metzner, R., 1999. Ayahuasca: Hallucinogens, Consciousness, and the Spirit of Nature. Thunder Mouth Press, New York.
- Middleton, F.A., Pato, M.T., Gentile, K.L., Morley, C.P., Zhao, X., Eisener, A.F., Brown, A., Petryshen, T.L., Kirby, A.N., Medeiros, H., Carvalho, C., Macedo, A., Dourado, A., Coelho, I., Valente, J., Soares, M.J., Ferreira, C.P., Lei, M., Azevedo, M.H., Kennedy, J.L., Daly, M.J., Sklar, P., Pato, C.N., 2004. Genome-wide linkage analysis of bipolar disorder by use of a high-density single-nucleotide-polymorphism (SNP) genotyping assay: a comparison with microsatellite marker assays and finding of significant linkage to chromosome 6q22. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 74, 886– 897.
- Miller, G.M., Verrico, C.D., Jassen, A., Konar, M., Yang, H., Panas, H., Bahn, M., Johnson, R., Madras, B.K., 2005. Primate trace amine receptor 1 modulation by the dopamine transporter. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 313, 983–994.
- Molinoff, P.B., Axelrod, J., 1972. Distribution and turnover of octopamine in tissues. J. Neurochem. 19, 157–163.
- Mousseau, D.D., Butterworth, R.F., 1994. The [³H]-tryptamine receptor in human brain: Kinetics, distribution and pharmacologic profile. J. Neurochem 63, 1052–1059.
- Mousseau, D.D., Butterworth, R.F., 1995. Trace amines in hepatic encephalopathy. Prog. Brain Res. 106, 277–284.
- Myojin, T., Taga, C., Tsuji, M., 1989. Monoamine oxidase, phenylethylamine, norepinephrine and schizophrenia. Clin. Genet. 19, 437–442.
- Nakamura, M., Ishii, A., Nakahara, D., 1998. Characterization of β-phenylethylamine induced monoamine release in rat nucleus accumbens: a microdialysis study. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 349, 163–169.
- Nguyen, T.V., Juorio, A.V., Greenshaw, 1989. Lesion-induced reductions in trace amine accumulation: dependence on MAO inhibitor pretreatment. Brain Res. Bull. 22, 197–200.
- Niddam, R., Arbilla, S., Baud, P., Langer, S.Z., 1985. [³H]-β-phenylethylamine, but not [³H]-(+)-amphetamine is released by electrical stimulation from perfused rat striatal slices. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 110, 121–124.
- Noda, M., Higashida, H., Aoki, S., Wada, K., 2004. Multiple signal transduction pathways mediated by 5-HT receptors. Mol. Neurobiol. 29, 31–39.
- Oldendorf, W.H., 1971. Brain uptake of radiolabeled amino acids, amines and hexoses after arterial injection. Am. J. Physiol. 221, 1629–1639.
- O'Reilly, R.L., Davis, B.A., 1994. Phenylethylamine and schizophrenia. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 18, 63–75.
- Osborne, N.N., 1985. Tryptamine, tyramine and histamine immunoreactivity in specific neurons of the gastropod CNS. In: Boulton, A.A., Maitre, L., Bieck, P.R., Riederer, P. (Eds.), Neuropsychopharmacology of the Trace Amines. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 115–124.
- Ott, J., 1993. Pharmacotheon: Entheogenic Drugs, Their Plant Sources and History. Natural Products Co..
- Paterson, I.A., 1988. The potentiation of cortical neuron responses to noradrenaline by β-phenylethylamine: effects of lesions of the locus coeruleus. Neurosci. Lett. 87, 139–144.
- Paterson, I.A., 1993. The potentiation of cortical neuron responses to noradrenaline by 2-phenylethylamine is independent of endogenous noradrenaline. Neurochem. Res. 18, 1329–1336.
- Paterson, I.A., Boulton, A.A., 1988. β-Phenylethylamine enhances single cortical neuron responses to noradrenaline in the rat. Brain Res. Bull. 20, 173–177.

- Paterson, I.A., Juorio, A.V., Boulton, A.A., 1990. 2-Phenylethylamine: a modulator of catecholamine transmission in the mammalian central nervous system? J. Neurochem. 55, 1827–1837.
- Perry, D.C., 1986. [³H]-tryptamine autoradiography in rat brain and choroid plexus reveals two distinct sites. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 236, 548–559.
- Philips, S.R., 1984. Analysis of trace amines: endogenous levels and the effects of various drugs on tissue concentrations in the rat. In: Boulton, A.A., Baker, G.B., Dewhurst, W.G., Sandler, M. (Eds.), Neurobiology of the Trace Amines: Analytical, Physiological, Pharmacological, Behavioral, and Clinical Aspects. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 127– 143.
- Philips, S.R., Boulton, A.A., 1979. The effects of monoamine oxidase inhibitor on some arylalkylamines in rat striatum. J. Neurochem. 33, 159–167.
- Philips, S.R., Davis, B.A., Durden, D.A., Boulton, A.A., 1974. Identification and distribution of *m*-tyramine in the rat. Can. J. Biochem. 53, 65–69.
- Potkin, S.G., Karoum, F., Chuang, L.W., Cannon-Spoor, H.E., Phillips, I., Wyatt, R.J., 1979. Phenylethylamine in paranoid chronic schizophrenics. Science 206, 470–471.
- Raiteri, M., Del Carmine, R., Bertollini, A., Levi, G., 1977. Effect of sympathomimetic amines on the synaptosomal transport of noradrenaline, dopamine, and 5-hydroxytryptamine. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 41, 133–143.
- Reader, T.A., Gottberg, E., Kolta, A., Brière, R., Diop, L., Grodin, L., 1988. Dopamine in the neocortex: a classical monoamine neurotransmitter as a trace amine. In: Boulton, A.A., Juorio, A.V., Downer, R.G.H. (Eds.), Trace Amines: Comparative and Clinical Neurobiology. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 175–189.
- Reith, J., Benkelfat, C., Sherwin, A., Yasuhara, Y., Kuwabara, H., Andermann, F., Bachneff, S., Cumming, P., Diksic, M., Dyve, P., Etienne, P., Evans, A.C., Lal, S., Shevell, M., Savard, G., Wong, D.F., Chouinard, G., Gjedde, A., 1994. Elevated dopa decarboxylase activity in brain of patients with psychosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 11651–11654.
- Rice, J.P., Goate, A., Williams, J.T., Bierut, L., Dorr, D., Wu, W., Shears, S., Gopalakrishnan, G., Edenberg, H.J., Foroud, T., Nurnberger, J., Gershon, E.S., Detra-Wadleigh, S.D., Goldin, L.R., mGuroff, J.J., McMahon, F.J., Simpson, S., MacKinnon, D., McInnis, M., Stine, O.C., DePaulo, J.R., Blehar, M.C., Reich, T., 1997. Initial genome scan of the NIMH genetics initiative bipolar pedigrees: chromosomes 1, 6, 8, 10 and 12. Am. J. Med. Genet. 74, 247–253.
- Robertson, H.A., 1981. Octopamine: after a decade as a putative neuroregulator. In: Youdin, M.B.H., Sharman, D.F., Lovenberg, W., Lagnado, J.R. (Eds.), Essays in Neurochemistry and Neuropharmacology, vol. 5. Wiley and Sons, Chichester, pp. 47–73.
- Rodriguez, M., Barroso, N., 1995. β-Phenylethylamine regulation of dopaminergic nigrostriatal cell activity. Brain Res. 703, 201–204.
- Roeder, T., Nathanson, J.A., 1993. Characterization of insect neuronal octopamine receptors (OA₃ receptors). Neurochem. Res. 18, 921–925.
- Roeder, T., Seifert, M., Kahler, C., Gewecke, M., 2003. Tyramine and octopamine: antagonistic modulators of behavior and metabolism. Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 54, 1–13.
- Rossetti, Z.L., Silvia, C.P., Kraqjnc, D., Neff, N.H., Hadjiconstantinou, M., 1990. Aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase is modulated by D₁ receptors in rat retina. J. Neurochem. 54, 787–791.
- Saavedra, J.M., Coyle, J.T., Axelrod, J., 1973. The distribution and properties of the nonspecific *N*-methyltransferase in brain. J. Neurochem. 20, 743–752.
- Saavedra, J.M., Palkovits, M., Brownstein, M.J., Axelrod, J., 1974. Localization of phenylethanolamine *N*-methyl transferase in the rat brain nuclei. Nature 248, 695–696.
- Saavedra, J.M., Axelrod, J., 1976. Octopamine as a putative neurotransmitter. Adv. Biochem. Psychopharmacol. 15, 95–110.
- Sabelli, H.C., Mosnaim, A.D., 1974. Phenylethylamine hypothesis of affective behavior. Am. J. Psychiatry 131, 695–699.
- Sabelli, H.C., Fink, P., Fawcett, J., Tom, C., 1996. Sustained antidepressant effect of PEA replacement. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 8, 168–171.
- Sabelli, H.C., Borison, R.L., Diamond, B.I., Havdala, H.S., Narasimhachri, N., 1978. Phenylethylamine and brain function. Biochem. Pharmacol. 27, 1707–1711.
- Sah, P., Hestrin, S., Nicoll, R.A., 1989. Tonic activation of NMDA receptors by ambient glutamate enhances excitability of neurons. Science 246, 815–818.

- Sandler, M., Reynolds, G.P., 1976. Does phenylethylamine cause schizophrenia? Lancet 1, 170–171.
- Sandler, M., Ruthven, C.R., Goodwin, B.L., Reynolds, G.P., Rao, V.A.R., Coppen, A., 1979. Deficit production of tyramine and octopamine in cases of depression. Nature 278, 357–358.
- Sangiah, S., Gomez, M.V., Domino, E.F., 1979. Accumulation of N,N-dimethyltryptamine in rat brain cortical slices. Biol. Psychiat. 14, 925–936.
- Sato, S., Tamura, A., Kitagawa, S., Koshiro, A., 1996. A kinetic analysis of the effects of β-phenylethylamine on the concentrations of dopamine and its metabolites in the rat striatum. J. Pharm. Sci. 86, 487–496.
- Schildkraut, J.J., 1967. The catecholamine hypothesis of affective disorders. A review of supporting evidence. Int. J. Psychiatry 4, 203–217.
- Schopenhauer, A., 1966. The World as will and Representation, vol. I, Book II, Section 27. Payne, E.F.J. (translator), Dover Publications Inc., New York.
- Séguéla, P., Watkins, K.C., Descarries, L., 1988. Ultrastructural features of dopamine axon terminals in the anteromedial and the suprarhinal cortex of the adult rat. Brain Res. 442, 11–22.
- Séguéla, P., Watkins, K.C., Descarries, L., 1989. Ultrastructural relationships of serotonin axon terminals in the cerebral cortex of the adult rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 289, 129–142.
- Séguéla, P., Watkins, K.C., Geffard, M., Descarries, L., 1990. Noradrenaline axon terminals in adult rat neocortex: an immunocytochemical analysis in serial thin sections. Neuroscience 35, 249–264.
- Seiden, L.S., Sabol, K.E., Ricaurte, G.A., 1993. Amphetamine: effects on catecholamine systems and behavior. Ann. Rev. Pharamacol. Toxicol. 33, 639–677.
- Shirkande, S., O'Reilly, R., Davis, B., Durden, B., Malcom, D., 1995. Plasma phenylethylamine levels of schizophrenic patients. Can. J. Psych. 40, 221.
- Shore, P.A., Silver, S.L., Brodie, B.B., 1955. Interaction of reserpine, serotonin and lysergic acid diethylamide in brain. Science 122, 284–285.
- Smith, R.L., Canton, H., Barrett, R.J., Sanders-Bush, E., 1998. Agonist properties of *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine at serotonin 5-HT_{2A} and 5-HT_{2C} receptors. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 61, 323–630.
- Snyder, S.H., Faillace, L., Hollister, L., 1967. 2,5-Dimethoxy-4-methyl-amphetamine (STP): a new hallucinogenic drug. Science 158, 669–670.
- Snodgrass, S.R., Iverson, L.L., 1974. Formation and release of ³H-tryptamine from ³H-tryptophan in rat spinal cord slices. Adv. Biochem. Psychopharmacol. 10, 141–150.
- Sotnikova, T.D., Budygin, E.A., Jones, S.R., Dykstra, L.A., Caron, M.C., Gainetdinov, R.R., 2004. Dopamine transporter-dependent and -independent actions of trace amine β-phenylethylamine. J. Neurochem. 91, 362–373.
- Stjärne, L., Lishajko, F., 1966. Drug-induced inhibition of noradrenaline synthesis *in vitro* in bovine splenic nerve tissue. Br. J. Pharmacol. 27, 398–404.
- Szymanski, H.V., Naylor, E.W., Karoum, F., 1987. Plasma phenylethylamine and phenylalanine in chronic schizophrenic patients. Biol. Psych. 22, 194– 198.
- Thoenen, H., Tranzer, J.P., 1968. Chemical sympathectomy by selective destruction of adrenergic nerve endings with 6-hydroxydopamine. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol. Exp. Pathol. 261, 277–288.

- Thompson, M.A., Moon, E., Kim, U.J., Xu, J., Siciliano, M.J., Weinshilboum, R.M., 1999. Human indolethylamine-*N*-methyltransferase: cDNA cloning and expression, gene cloning, and chromosomal localization. Genomics 61, 285–297.
- Tinklenberg, J.R., Gillin, J.C., Murphy Jr., G.M., Staub, R., Wyatt, R.J., 1978. The effects of phenylethylamine in rhesus monkeys. Am. J. Psychiatry 135, 576–578.
- Vaccari, A., 1986. High affinity binding of [³H]-tyramine in the central nervous system. Br. J. Pharmacol. 89, 15–25.
- Vaccari, A., 1988. High affinity binding of *p*-tyramine: a process in search of a function. In: Boulton, A.A., Juorio, A.V., Downer, R.G.H. (Eds.), Trace Amines: Comparative and Clinical Neurobiology. Humana Press, Clifton, New Jersey, pp. 119–132.
- Vaccari, A., 1993. The tyramine binding site in the central nervous system: an overview. Neurochem. Res. 18, 861–868.
- Vanti, W.B., Muglia, P., Nguyen, T., Cheng, R., Kennedy, J.L., George, S.R., O' Dowd, B.F., 2003. Discovery of a null mutation in a trace receptor gene. Genomics 82, 531–536.
- Venken, T., Alaerts, M., Adolfsson, R., Van Broeckhoven, C., Del-Favero, D., 2006. No association of the trace amine-associated receptor 6 with bipolar disorder in a northern Swedish population. Psych. Genet. 16, 1–2.
- Versteeg, D.H.G., Van der Gugten, J., De Jong, W., Palkovits, M., 1976. Regional concentrations of noradrenaline and dopamine in rat brain. Brain Res. 113, 563–574.
- Warsh, J.J., Coscina, D.R., Godse, D.D., Chan, P.W., 1979. Dependence of brain tryptamine formation on tryptophan availability. J. Neurochem. 32, 1191– 1196.
- Wood, P.L., Pilapil, C., LaFaille, F., Nair, P., Glenon, 1984. Unique [³H]tryptamine binding sites in the rat brain: distribution and pharmacology. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. 268, 194–201.
- Wolf, M.E., Mosnaim, A.D., 1983. Phenylethylamine in neuropsychiatric disorders. Gen. Pharmacol. 14, 385–390.
- Wu, P.H., Boulton, A.A., 1975. Metabolism, distribution and disappearance of injected β-phenylethylamine in the rat. Can. J. Biochem. 53, 42–50.
- Yamada, S., Harano, M., Tanaka, M., 1998. Antagonistic effects of β-phenylethylamine on quinpirole- and (–)-sulpiride-induced changes in evoked dopamine release from rat striatal slices. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 343, 145–150.
- Yoshimoto, S., Kaku, H., Shimogawa, S., Watanabe, A., Nakagawra, M., Takahashi, R., 1987. Urinary trace amine excretion and platelet monoamine oxidase activity in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 3, 229–236.
- Young, J.Z., 1988. Philosophy and the Brain. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Zhu, M.-Y., Juorio, A.V., Paterson, I.A., Boulton, A.A., 1992. Regulation of aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase by dopamine receptors in the rat brain. J. Neurochem. 58, 636–641.
- Zhu, M.-Y., Juorio, A.V., Paterson, I.A., Boulton, A.A., 1993. Regulation of striatal aromatic acid decarboxylase: effects of blockage or activation of dopamine receptors. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 238, 157–164.
- Zidovetzki, R., Lester, D.S., 1992. The mechanism of protein kinase C activation: a biophysical perspective. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1134, 261–272.